Protein Homeostasis in Survival and Persistence of *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella* Typhimurium and *Cronobacter sakazakii* at Alkaline pH and after Desiccation

by

Tongbo Zhu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Food Science and Technology

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Tongbo Zhu, 2022

Abstract

Bacteria have evolved a protein homeostasis network to maintain the integrity of their proteome. Chaperones and proteases of the core genome can be complemented by accessory genes encoding additional elements of the protein homeostasis network. The transmissible locus of stress tolerance (tLST) confers exceptional tolerance to high temperature, chlorine, oxidative chemicals and high hydrostatic pressure by reducing protein aggregation. Highly expressed tLST proteins include intracellular small heat shock proteins sHsp20 and sHsp_{GI}, disaggregase ClpK_{GI}, and periplasmic stress chaperones PscA and PscB. The tLST also encodes KefB_{GI}, a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. This study aimed to determine the effects of improved protein homeostasis that is mediated by the tLST on bacterial tolerance to alkaline pH and desiccation.

The expression of the Cpx, a two-component regulatory system in *Escherichia coli* which responds to envelope stress, was not altered by the presence of the tLST. The tolerance or resistance of *E. coli* to alkaline pH in the pH range of 6.9 to 9.2 and at pH 11, respectively, were also not changed by the presence of the tLST. The presence of the tLST improved, however, survival at pH 11 in presence of chlorine stress; this effect was attributed to KefB_{GI} rather than protein homeostasis.

The impact of protein homeostasis on desiccation tolerance was characterized in *Salmonella* enterica serovar Typhimurium, *Cronobacter sakazakii* and *E. coli*. The cloning and expression of the *shsp20*, *shsp_{GI}* and *clpK_{GI}* decreased desiccation tolerance in *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* but not in *E. coli*. Protein aggregates were visualized *in vivo* using an IbpA-Yfp fusion protein, demonstrating that cloning of *shsp20*, *shsp_{GI}* and *clpK_{GI}* reduced intracellular protein aggregates in *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* but not in *E. coli*. The presence of the elements intensively consuming cellular resources including high copy plasmids as well as cloning of highly expressed proteins had a detrimental effect on desiccation tolerance irrespective of the function of the expressed proteins. Abolishing the ATP-hydrolysis function of $ClpK_{GI}$ by substitution of two amino acids (E383A/E723A) increased cell counts of *S*. Typhimurium after desiccation more than 100-fold, demonstrating a direct contribution of protein aggregation to desiccation tolerance. Dry storage of *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* for 112 days revealed that cloning of the tLST or of its protein homeostasis module decreased survival during desiccated storage in infant formula. In conclusion, additional protein quality control provided by tLST does not aid in alkaline resistance or tolerance in *E. coli*. The desiccation tolerance of *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* positively correlates with the formation of protein aggregates but are negatively impacted by the presence of the elements intensively consuming cellular resources. Taken together, this study improves the understanding of how protein homeostasis affects bacterial stress tolerance by increasing tolerance to some stressors while reducing tolerance to others.

Preface

This thesis is the original work by Tongbo Zhu.

Chapter 2 has been published as: Zhu, T., Wang, Z., McMullen, L. M., Raivio, T., Simpson, D. J., & Gänzle, M. G. (2021). Contribution of the Locus of Heat Resistance to Growth and Survival of *Escherichia coli* at Alkaline pH and at Alkaline pH in the Presence of Chlorine. Microorganisms, 9(4), 701. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9040701. The results in Chapter 2 have been presented as a poster at the ASM World Microbe Forum 2021 online worldwide. The term of locus of heat resistance (LHR) has been used in this Chapter to be identical with the publication.

Chapter 3 has been submitted for publication and is currently under major revision. The title of the manuscript is "Protein aggregation as a bacterial survival strategy in *Salmonella* Typhimurium and *Cronobacter sakazakii* under desiccation" with authors Tongbo Zhu, Zhiying Wang, Lynn M. McMullen, Tracy L. Raivio, Michael G. Gänzle, and David J. Simpson.

Dedication

To Luca,

Thanks for being a "chaperone". All is well.

Acknowledgements

I believe the most fortunate in my 2019 was I started my journey in Lab 2-50. The key word of my life here is "Story". As a story-lover, in the past three years, I have learned how to understand research as a story, and how to tell my scientific work to others as a story.

I sincerely appreciate my supervisor, Dr. Michael Gänzle, for accepting me as a master student and all his guidance, patience and encouragement that unwind my mind when I struggled with my experiments. I would like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Tracy Raivio, for her knowledge and support since my undergraduate. I am grateful to have Dr. Lynn McMullen as my committee member; thank you for the helpful advice on my statistics, scientific writing and career development. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Lisa Stein, for agreeing to be my arm's length examiner, I really appreciate your input.

I sincerely appreciate all the help from my past and present lab members. Especially I would like to thank Dr. David Simpson for providing the research idea and letting me realize that I am not suited for the PhD program. I want to thank Dr. Zhiying Wang for being my close collaborator in the lab, enjoying or suffering all the happiness, sadness, pain and joy with me from our experiments. I appreciate all the support from my family and friends. I would like to additionally thank Lilian Morceli, Shaelyn Xu, Vi Pham, Zheng Zhao and Zhiying Wang for helping me live through my hard days and for bringing me the warm food brightening up my life.

Finally, special thanks to Zhengping Wang, for all our scientific or non-scientific talk, for sharing the similar or different worldview and for going through all the fantastic or awful days together in the past six more years.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xi
List of Abbreviations	. xiii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Bacterial protein homeostasis and stress response	1
1.2 Bacterial persister cells	5
1.3 Toxin-antitoxin systems	7
1.4 ppGpp	9
1.5 Protein aggregation	10
1.6 tLST as a tool to manipulate protein aggregation	11
1.7 Hypothesis	12
Chapter 2. Contribution of the locus of heat resistance to growth and survival	
of Escherichia coli at alkaline pH and at alkaline pH in the presence of chlorine	14
2.1 Introduction	14
2.2 Materials and Methods	16
2.2.1 Bacterial strains, plasmids and growth conditions	16
2.2.2 Construction of derivatives of <i>E. coli</i> MG1655	17
2.2.3 Phylogenetic tree of the CpxR response regulator	20
2.2.4 Determination of the Cpx activity by bioluminescence assay	20
2.2.5 Measurement of LHR gene expression by RT-qPCR	21
2.2.6 Determination of the growth rates	22

2.2.7 Determination of the tolerances to extreme alkaline pH with or without chlorin	ıe
treatment	2
2.2.8 Statistical analysis	23
2.3 Results	23
2.3.1 Co-existence of CpxR response regulator and LHR	23
2.3.2 The presence of LHR does not alter Cpx pathway activity	24
2.3.3 LHR transcriptional level is affected by CpxR but not EvgA response regulator under	er
alkaline pH2	26
2.3.4 Cpx but not the LHR is necessary for growth under alkaline pH 2	27
2.3.5 LHR improves bacterial survival to extreme alkaline pH in the presence of chlorin	ıe
	28
2.4 Discussion	51
2.4.1 The functional overlap between LHR and Cpx response	1
2.4.2 The function of LHR on bacterial alkaline pH adaptation	2
2.5 Conclusion	24
Chapter 3 Protein aggregation as a bacterial survival strategy in Salmonalla	-
Typhimurium and <i>Cronobactor sakazakii</i> under designation	86
Typhinurium and Cronobucier sukuzuku under desiceation	U
3.1 Introduction	6
3.2 Materials and Methods	8
3.2.1 Bacterial strains and growth conditions	8
3.2.2 Determination of the frequency of tLST in Cronobacter sakazakii	0
3.2.3 Construction of <i>ibpA-yfp</i> fusion strains	1
3.2.4 Plasmid constructions	2
3.2.5 Determination of the bacterial dry tolerance in 0.1% peptone water	7
3.2.6 Visualization and counting the percentage of protein aggregates in the bacteria	al
population4	7
3.2.7 Determination of the dry tolerance of bacteria in infant formula	8
3.2.8 Statistical analysis	8
3.3 Results	9

3.3.1 Dry environments select against the tLST in Cronobacter sakazakii	. 49
3.3.2 Impact of the tLST and its protein homeostasis module on desiccation tolerance	. 49
3.3.3 Impact of the tLST and its protein homeostasis module on protein aggregation in v	vivo
	. 51
3.3.4 Effect of protein aggregation on desiccation tolerance	. 52
3.3.5 Effect of energy waste on bacterial desiccation tolerance	. 55
3.3.6 Bacterial survival in PIF	. 57
3.4 Discussion	. 58
3.4.1 The impact of protein aggregate on bacterial desiccation tolerance	. 58
3.4.2 The impact of resources allocation on bacterial desiccation tolerance	. 62
3.5 Conclusion	. 63
Chapter 4. Conclusion and general discussion	. 65
References	. 67

List of Tables

Table 1.1. The working mechanism of TA systems.	8
Table 2.1. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.	16
Table 2.2. Primers used in this study	
Table 3.1. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.	
Table 3.2. Primers used in this study	43
Table 3.3. The frequency of tLST in C. sakazakii from different environments.	49

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. The bacterial chaperone network of ribosome-bound trigger factor (TF), DnaKEJ
and GroESL for <i>de novo</i> protein synthesis2
Figure 1.2. Function of chaperones and proteases in response to disruption of protein
homeostasis4
Figure 1.3. Three proposed mechanisms for the formation of persister cells7
Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of the transmissible locus of stress tolerance 1 (tLST1).
Figure 2.1. A phylogenetic tree showing the distribution of CpxR response regulator in family
Enterobacteriaceae with Vibrio cholerae as the outgroup25
Figure 2.2. The Cpx responses in <i>E. coli</i> MG1655 (black bars) and MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR (grey
bars) under different treatments
Figure 2.3. The expression level of LHR in <i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR with either <i>cpxR</i>
(black bars) or <i>evgA</i> knocked out (grey bars) relative to the expression in MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR.
Figure 2.4. The growth rates of <i>E. coli</i> MG1655 and MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR and gene knockout
derivative strains at pH-values ranging from 6.9 to 9.2
Figure 2.5. Reduction of cell counts of <i>E. coli</i> MG1655 and MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR and gene
knockout derivative strains under different pH30
Figure 2.6. Reduction of cell counts of E. coli MG1655 and MG1655 lacZ::LHR and gene
knockout derivative strains under different killing conditions
Figure 3.1. Influence of tLST or protein homeostasis module on desiccation survival of E. coli
MG1655, S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and C. sakazakii FUA 10122 after exposure to aw
0.75 at 21 °C
Figure 3.2. Percentage of cells with fluorescent foci representing protein aggregates
Figure 3.3. Influence of the protein homeostasis module-comprising genes on desiccation
survival of S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 after exposure to aw 0.75 at 21 °C
Figure 3.4. Percentage of the S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 <i>ibpA-yfp</i> cells harbouring protein
homeostasis module-comprising genes with fluorescent foci representing protein aggregates.55

Figure 3.5. Influence of the non-tLST gene and high copy number plasmid on desiccation
survival of <i>S</i> . Typhimurium ATCC 13311 after exposure to aw 0.75 at 21°C57
Figure 3.6. Influence of the tLST or protein homeostasis module on desiccation survival of <i>S</i> .
Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and <i>C. sakazakii</i> FUA 10122 in infant formula after storage at a _W
0.33 and 21 °C

List of Abbreviations

Amp	Ampicillin
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
aw	Water activity
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
Cam	Chloramphenicol
CFU	Colony forming units
CPEC	Circular polymerase extension cloning
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
GSH	Glutathione
GSSG	Glutathione disulfide
HOC1	Hypochlorous acid
IPTG	Isopropyl β -d-1-thiogalactopyranoside
Kan	Kanamycin
LB	Luria-bertani
LHR	Locus of heat resistance
OD	Optical density
ORF	Open reading frame
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
(p)ppGpp	Guanosine pentaphosphate/tetraphosphate
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RT-qPCR	Quantitative reverse transcription PCR
sHSP	Small heat shock protein
STEC	Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli
ТА	Toxin-antitoxin
Tet	Tetracycline
TF	Trigger factor
tLST	Transmissible locus of stress tolerance
TSA	Tryptic soy agar

TSB	Tryptic soy broth
VBNC	Viable but non-culturable

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Bacterial protein homeostasis and stress response

Accurate protein folding is essential for bacterial physiology. Bacteria have evolved a sophisticated molecular system, collectively named as protein homeostasis or proteostasis network, to maintain the proteome integrity according to the rapidly changed living environment. Various cellular and environmental stresses including the accumulation of toxic chemicals, oxidative stress, high pressure, heat shock and extreme pH can result in disturbance of protein homeostasis which leads to protein misfolding, unfolding and aggregation, and therefore, reduced cell viability (Ezraty et al., 2017; Govers & Aertsen, 2015; Kishore et al., 2012; Lund et al., 2014; Richter et al., 2010). In response to the proteotoxic stresses, bacteria deploy a protein quality control machinery with its central constituents of chaperones and proteases functioning to maintain the dynamic equilibrium from protein synthesis, folding, refolding, transport to timely degradation of irreparably damaged proteins (Castanié-Cornet et al., 2014; Mogk et al., 2011; Schramm et al., 2014). In prokaryotes, the major elements in this machinery are highly conserved.

The highly conserved bacterial chaperone systems include the ribosome-bound trigger factor (TF), DnaKEJ and GroESL complex (Fig. 1.1) (Castanié-Cornet et al., 2014; Wong & Houry, 2004). Chaperones prevent protein misfolding and aggregation by shielding their exposed hydrophobic surfaces from the aqueous cytosol, thereby protecting these residues from forming aberrant interactions (David et al., 2016). The ATP-independent TF interacts with newly translated nascent polypeptides to promote stable formation of secondary and tertiary structures of protein (Agashe et al., 2004; O'Brien et al., 2012). In contrast, ATP-dependent chaperones, DnaK and GroEL, aid not only during *de novo* protein synthesis and protein transport but also inspect the conformational status of existing cytoplasmic proteins (Calloni et al., 2012; Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2009). The



Figure 1.1. The bacterial chaperone network of ribosome-bound trigger factor (TF), DnaKEJ and GroESL for *de novo* protein synthesis. TF interacts with newly translated polypeptides and hands them over to the DnaKEJ or GroESL systems. In the DnaKEJ machinery, DnaJ holds and presents the non-native protein substrate to DnaK which folds the substrate into its native conformation in an ATP-dependent manner. GrpE functions to reset DnaK for the following cycle. In the GroESL machinery, GroES presents non-native protein substrate to one side of GroEL, which folds the substrate into its native conformation in an ATP-dependent manner. The subtracts of the DnaKEJ or GroESL systems can be interchanged.

Escherichia coli DnaK is constitutively expressed and is stress inducible under the control of σ 32, and interacts with more than 700 cytosolic proteins, functioning as a central hub in the chaperone network. In the reaction cycle, DnaJ holds and presents the non-native protein substrate to ATP-bounded DnaK; After ATP-hydrolysis, GrpE catalyzes ADP release and subsequent new ATP binding triggers substrate dissociation, which resets DnaK for the next cycle (Calloni et al., 2012). Although GroESL expressed ten times lower than DnaK, it is essential for growth of *E. coli* at all temperatures (Fayet et al., 1989). GroESL-depleted strains exhibit defective transcription,

translation and a filamentous morphology (Fujiwara & Taguchi, 2007). GroES binds unfolded protein substrate to one side of the GroEL complex which then undergoes a dramatic conformational change, shifting from closed to open state (Tyagi et al., 2009). In the central cavity of GroEL, the unfolded protein is refolded into its native conformation and the subsequent dissociation of GroES releases the trapped substrate (Tyagi et al., 2009).

The protein quality control network also has disaggregation chaperone machineries to resolve existing protein aggregates (Barnett et al., 2000). ClpB, a highly conserved disaggregase that is widespread in Gram-negative bacteria, improves survival under various stress conditions, e.g. osmotic shock, oxidative stress, heat, acidity, ethanol and nutrient depletion (Alam et al., 2021; Meibom et al., 2008; Thomas & Baneyx, 1998; Tripathi et al., 2020). Together with DnaK, ClpB mediates the ATP-dependent re-solubilization of aggregated proteins (Clark et al., 2013). The ATP-independent small heat shock proteins (sHSP) associate with partially unfolded proteins (Webster et al., 2019a). sHSPs are holdases that interact with exposed hydrophobic residues to prevent aggregation until the proteins are refolded by other chaperones (Bakthisaran et al., 2015; Haslbeck & Vierling, 2015).

Damaged or unneeded proteins that are misfolded beyond repair are degraded by proteases (Fig. 1.2). The proteolysis reactions are mainly conducted by the finely tuned energy-dependent AAA+ (ATPases Associated with a variety of cellular Activities) proteases (Mahmoud & Chien, 2018). Proteases are exceptionally sensitive and selective in recognizing substrates. The widespread and highly conserved proteases in bacteria includes the Lon, FtsH and ClpP (Mahmoud & Chien, 2018; Sauer & Baker, 2011). These ATP-fueled enzymes contain AAA+ domains that are assembled into a hexameric ring that translocate unfolded polypeptides into its degradation chamber (Gur & Sauer, 2008; Sauer & Baker, 2011). In *E. coli*, at least 50% of the misfolded proteins are degraded

by Lon (Kowit & Goldberg, 1977); the membrane anchored FtsH is essential for the quality control of membrane proteins and plays a role in regulation of the heat shock response (Langklotz et al., 2012). The ClpP protease system is required for survival and infection of hosts of Gram-positive bacteria such as *Bacillus subtilis*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis and *Listeria monocytogenes* (Illigmann et al., 2021; Msadek et al., 1998). For Gram-negative bacteria, ClpP in particular is important for the growth of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium under low pH, elevated temperature and high salt conditions (Thomsen et al., 2002).



Figure 1.2. Function of chaperones and proteases in response to disruption of protein homeostasis. sHSP interacts with the denatured proteins in their early stage to stabilize the structure and prevent further aggregation until the proteins are refolded by themselves or by other ATP-dependent chaperones. Chaperones like ClpB require co-existing DnaK to form a bichaperone system whereas its homolog ClpK can function independently. The denatured or aggregated proteins which are beyond repair are degraded by proteases.

In *E. coli*, heat shock ranging from 42 to 47°C, the maximum growth temperature, increases the requirement for protein homeostasis and most of the chaperones and proteases are strongly upregulated (Richter et al., 2010). Both DnaKJE and GroESL are upregulated following

temperature elevation (Chapman et al., 2006; Tomoyasu et al., 2001). Severe oxidative stress causes inactivation of DnaK but the activation of Hsp33, a redox-regulated chaperone, improves bacterial tolerance to H_2O_2 and hypochlorous acid (Wholey & Jakob, 2012). Additionally, the ATP-independent chaperones HdeA/B, which are located in the periplasm, can be induced under acidic pH; Their overexpression promotes survival from pH 2 to 4 (Dahl et al., 2015). Therefore, maintaining protein homeostasis becomes particularly important when bacteria are faced with stresses that destroy the structural integrity of proteins. Rapid repair or clearance of the defective proteins by the protein quality control machinery ensures bacterial survival, furthermore rendering ecological benefits in competition with other microorganisms for limited resources.

Although bacteria have existing protein quality control machineries to cope with fluctuating proteostasis, protein aggregation not only occurs in the presence of acute stress, which can overwhelm the machinery, but also occurs naturally, which has been proposed as inevitable and accruing intracellular waste bins. The protein aggregates are disposed asymmetrically at the older cell pole during cell division and progeny that inherit the old pole experience declines in growth and reproduction rates, which have been defined as cellular aging (Lindner et al., 2008). This mechanism has been proposed as a more cost-effective way for rejuvenation of bacterial populations; however, subsequent studies linked the aged subpopulation with the formation of persister cells and an enhanced stress tolerance (Govers et al., 2018). The concept of persister cells and how protein aggregates contribute to their formation will be explored further in subsequent sections.

1.2 Bacterial persister cells

Stress is an unavoidable part of the life of free-living bacteria. In addition to evolving resistance mechanisms and actively adaptation through complex transcriptional and post-transcriptional

regulatory networks, bacteria can stochastically produce a phenotypically variant subpopulation of individuals without undergoing genetic changes; this subpopulation are termed as persisters (Wood et al., 2013). The concept of persister cells, or persisters, was first described in 1940s when it was reported that 1% of a staphylococci population survived penicillin treatment (Bigger, 1944). Hence, bacterial persistence is typically observed when the majority of an isogenic bacterial population is sensitive to antibiotic treatment, while a subpopulation of individuals survives for a much longer period of time (Brauner et al., 2016). Therefore, the formation of persisters has been postulated as a bet-hedging strategy where a genetically identical bacterial population diversifies its phenotypes to distribute the risk from fluctuating environments (Veening et al., 2008).

The function of persisters is survival of a small part of the population. They are dormant cells, i.e. non-multiplying and lacking transcription, translation, and proton-motive force (Kwan et al., 2013). Persisters can transiently escape the effects of antibiotics by exhibiting transient tolerance, therefore they are distinguishable from permanently antibiotic-resistant bacteria that acquire resistance though horizontal gene transfer or genetic mutations and can proliferate in the presence of the bactericidal or bacteriostatic agents (Brauner et al., 2016). Unlike resistance, bacterial persistence is a non-inherited trait. After removal of antibiotics, the persisters can be re-cultured to a population that retains the same sensitivity to the antibiotics as the original population containing a similar proportion of cells as persisters (Keren et al., 2004).

Critically, the persister state arises not only from antibiotic treatment but also under different growth stages, nutrient deprivation and oxidative stress (Leszczynska et al., 2013; Paranjape & Shashidhar, 2019; Wu et al., 2012). The persister phenotype has been well-documented in a wide variety of bacterial species including *E. coli*, *S.* Typhimurium and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with highly redundant proposed mechanisms via toxin-antitoxin systems, the ppGpp pathway and

protein aggregate formation (Fig. 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Three proposed mechanisms for the formation of persister cells. (A) Persisters formed via the chromosomally encoded toxin-antitoxin (TA) systems. The labile antitoxins are degraded by stress-induced proteases to release free toxins. (B) Persisters formed via elevated level of (p)ppGpp. (C) Persisters formed via protein aggregation. Protein aggregates form naturally in the cell but are accumulated and inherited asymmetrically by the daughter cells with the older cell poles. The presence of free toxins, high levels of (p)ppGpp and intensive protein aggregates inhibits DNA replication, transcription and translation, which arrests cell growth and lead to cell dormancy.

1.3 Toxin-antitoxin systems

Toxin-antitoxin (TA) systems play important roles in the formation of persister cells. These systems were first described in the 1980s as a mechanism that forces maintenance of low-copy number plasmids (Gerdes & Rasmussen, 1986; Ogura & Hiraga, 1983). The systems usually consist of two adjacent genes encoding a stable toxin that arrests host metabolism and a labile antitoxin. Since reproduction of the host cells depends on the presence of the antitoxin, cells that

do not replicate the plasmids no longer reproduce (Ogura & Hiraga, 1983). Currently, most of the identified toxins are proteins whereas the antitoxins are either RNA or proteins that alter the translational level, stability or activity of their cognate toxins (Jurenas et al., 2022). The identified TA systems have been classified into 8 types based on the mode of action of the antitoxins and summarized in Table 1.1.

TA systems	Toxin type	Anti-toxin working mechanism	Reference
Type I	Proteins	Small RNAs preventing the	(Kawano et al., 2002)
		transcription of the toxin	
Type II		Proteins directly binding and	(Tam & Kline, 1989)
		neutralizing the toxin	
Type III		Small RNAs forming the protein-	(Fineran et al., 2009)
		RNA duplex with toxin	
Type IV		Proteins stabilizing the cellular	(Jimmy et al., 2020)
		target of toxin	
Type V		RNase specifically degrading the	(X. Wang et al.,
		mRNA of toxin	2012)
Type VI		Proteins promoting the degradation	(Aakre et al., 2013)
		of toxin by proteases	
Type VII		Proteins post-translational	(X. Wang et al.,
		modifing the toxin	2021)
Type VIII	RNAs that blocks	Antisense RNAs repressing the	(Choi et al., 2018)
	gene expression	expression of the toxin RNA	

Table 1.1. The working mechanism of TA systems.

Theses TA systems are also frequently distributed in the chromosome of bacteria and commonly occur with multiple copies present in each replicon. In *E. coli* K-12 there are 8 well-characterized and 28 putative TA systems (Yamaguchi & Inouye, 2011). The first TA system linked to bacterial persistence was the type II TA system, encoded by the *hipBA* module, found in *E. coli*, with HipA

toxin inactivating the translation factor EF-Tu through phosphorylation (Moyed & Bertrand, 1983). The TA loci contribute cumulatively to persistence as the deletion of all type II TA loci dramatically reduced persistence of *E. coli*. In contrast, overproduction of type II toxins induced a dormancy state that was resolved by the induction of cognate antitoxin genes (Maisonneuve & Gerdes, 2014; Pedersen et al., 2002). Under stress conditions, the labile antitoxins are preferentially degraded by stress-induced proteases, which leaves the toxin to arrest cellular activity therefore switching into a persister state (Page & Peti, 2016). In addition, single-cell analysis showed that the transcriptional of the TA operon in *E. coli* can be stochastically turned on in a small proportion of cells (Maisonneuve & Gerdes, 2014). The gene expression in individual cells is influenced by both intrinsic and extrinsic molecular noise that arises from stochastic nature of biochemical reactions and results in pronounced phenotypic diversity (Veening et al., 2008).

1.4 ppGpp

In *E. coli*, the *hipA7* gain-of-function mutation in the *hipA* toxin gene enhances persistence by 100 to 1,000-fold (Moyed & Bertrand, 1983). However, this phenotype is diminished in *relA spoT* double null mutants, which lack the ability to synthesize the enzymes producing the alarmone guanosine pentaphosphate/tetraphosphate, (p)ppGpp (Korch et al., 2003). Therefore, (p)ppGpp has been suggested as a critical metabolic regulator for toxin-antitoxin modules. (p)ppGpp is the effector in the stringent response that is triggered under nutrient starvation, such as amino acid or fatty acid starvation (Steinchen et al., 2020). In Gram-negative bacteria, (p)ppGpp inhibits DNA replication, transcription and synthesis of rRNA, which in turn dramatically alters the global gene expression profile. The downregulation of genes for growth and the upregulation of genes for stress tolerance result in a slow growth rate and cell dormancy (Durfee et al., 2008; Gaca et al., 2015). In addition, the persistence phenotype also depends on the regulation of efflux pumps and reactive

oxygen species (ROS) by (p)ppGpp where (p)ppGpp acts as a central regulator (Chuang et al., 2015; Nguyen et al., 2011). However, not all type II TA systems require the activation of stringent response to function in persister formation (Ramisetty et al., 2016). The (p)ppGpp deficient strains still generate persister cells (Chowdhury et al., 2016).

1.5 Protein aggregation

While the accumulation of aggregated protein is commonly considered as detrimental to host cells, the presence of protein aggregates also aids in bacterial stress tolerance by promoting cell dormancy, or in other words, the possible generation of persisters. In E. coli, persister cells that survive through antibiotic treatment more often contain protein aggregates than the non-dormant antibiotic-susceptible subpopulation (Cesar et al., 2022; J. Yu et al., 2019). Removal of the aggregates by the DnaK-ClpB bichaperone system resuscitates the persisters to actively growing cells (Pu et al., 2019). The protein aggregates are developed gradually, which is correlated to the degree of dormancy, termed as "dormancy depth", at the single cell level (Dewachter et al., 2021; Pu et al., 2019). Certain levels of protein aggregation are required for the cells to enter the dormant state but too much aggregation also prevents resuscitation after stress is removed (Dewachter et al., 2021). A low intensity of aggregates is associated with cells trapped at a shallow dormancy depth and can rapidly recover from antibiotic treatment, while deep dormant cells contain more intense aggregates that would require a longer recovery time (Pu et al., 2019). Despite the increasing number of studies demonstrating the protective effects of protein aggregates on host cells against antibiotic stress, induced protein aggregation also aids in bacterial survival under heat and desiccation treatments, which suggests accumulating protein aggregates can be a bacterial general stress response mechanism (Govers et al., 2018; X. Wang et al., 2020).

Protein aggregates can start to form naturally at any bacterial growth stage but are disposed at the

10

older cell pole during cell division (Lindner et al., 2008). Growth arrest has been commonly observed in daughter cells that inherited the older cell pole and subsequently enter the dormant state (Lindner et al., 2008). The correlation between protein aggregation and bacterial dormancy suggests that accumulation of protein aggregates may directly cause the formation of persisters. Proteomic analysis revealed that protein aggregates sequester a wide range of proteins functioning in a variety of cellular metabolic activities from energy production to cell proliferation (Leszczynska et al., 2013; Pu et al., 2019).

1.6 tLST as a tool to manipulate protein aggregation

The transmissible locus of stress tolerance (tLST), previously known as the locus of heat resistance (LHR), is a 14-19 kb mobile genomic island horizontally transferred among diverse species of beta- and gamma-Proteobacteria (Boll et al., 2017; Kamal et al., 2021; Mercer et al., 2015). Several variants of tLST have been identified in *Enterobacteriaceae* including tLSTa, tLST1 and tLST2; tLST1 is the shortest tLST variant providing its bacterial host with tolerance phenotypes towards elevated temperature, chlorine, oxidative chemicals and high hydrostatic pressure (Fig. 1.4) (C. Lee et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020; Mercer et al., 2017; Z. Wang et al., 2020a). Genes encoded by the three fragments of the tLST function in reducing protein aggregation, protein oxidation, and the oxidation of membrane lipids respectively. (Li et al., 2020; Z. Wang et al., 2020a). Highly expressed tLST proteins include sHsp20, ClpK_{GI}, sHsp_{GI}, PscA and PscB (Li et al., 2020). The small heat shock proteins (sHsps) and disaggregase ClpK prevent the aggregation of misfolded proteins and disaggregate the aggregated proteins (Haslbeck, 2016; C. Lee et al., 2015a). The sHsp20, sHsp_{GI}, and ClpK_{GI}, belonging to the tLST protein homeostasis module, aid in *E. coli* survival under heat and high pressure by reducing the amount of protein aggregation (Li et al., 2020). Therefore, the tLST or its protein homeostasis module can be used as a tool to manipulate

the levels of protein aggregates within the cells in order to determine the impact of protein homeostasis on bacterial stress tolerance. In addition, PscA and PscB (Periplasmic Stress Chaperones), previously named YfdX1 and YfdX2, demonstrate chaperone-like activity, preventing protein aggregation and pH-dependent stoichiometric conversion (H. S. Lee et al., 2018; Saha et al., 2016). These observations suggest their possible function in pH adaptation. The predicted translocation signal peptide in the N-terminus of YfdX indicates its localization in the periplasmic space (Saha et al., 2016). Maintaining protein homeostasis is vital for bacterial survival under alkaline condition as exposing the bacteria to extreme high pH can break the structural integrity of proteins (Mendonca et al., 1994). The tLST1 also encodes a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, KefB_{GI}, that may function to maintain a polarized membrane at alkaline conditions and thus contribute to alkaline adaptation (Mercer et al., 2017; Z. Wang et al., 2021). Therefore, this study aimed to examine the function of protein homeostasis in survival and persistence of bacteria under alkaline pH and desiccation conditions.



Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of the transmissible locus of stress tolerance 1 (tLST1). sHSP20, ClpK_{GI} and sHSP_{GI} are intracellular chaperones. PscA and PscB are chaperones localized to the periplasmic space. KefB_{GI} is an inner membrane associated Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter which may contribute to alkaline adaptation.

1.7 Hypothesis

Maintaining the protein homeostasis and formation of persister cells are important strategies for bacterial stress tolerance. Persisters have been exclusively studied in antibiotic research as they are transiently tolerant to killing by antibiotics. The accumulation of protein aggregates in persisters provides proof of concept that the protein aggregation caused by disruption of protein homeostasis may increase stress tolerance through generation of persisters. This concept remains to be evaluated for chemical and physical stressors other than antibiotics. Experimentation described in this thesis therefore aimed to test the hypothesis that bacterial protein homeostasis improves tolerance to alkaline pH but reduces desiccation tolerance. Specifically, the tLST was used as a tool to manipulate protein homeostasis in *E. coli*, *S.* Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii*. It was determined whether the tLST has opposite effects on bacterial survival at alkaline conditions or in the dry state.

Chapter 2. Contribution of the locus of heat resistance to growth and survival of *Escherichia coli* at alkaline pH and at alkaline pH in the presence of chlorine

2.1 Introduction

Escherichia coli are commensals in the intestine of humans and animals, but the species also includes pathogenic strains that cause infections of the gastrointestinal and urinary tracts (Croxen et al., 2013; Johnson & Russo, 2002). Food contamination by pathogenic *E. coli* may occur at any step of the farm-to-fork continuum and is considered a contributor to foodborne disease (Baker et al., 2016; S. C. Yang et al., 2017). In food processing plants, alkaline chlorinated cleaners and sanitizers are used to sanitize food contact surfaces (Sharma & Beuchat, 2004). The chlorine and alkaline treatments function through synergistic mechanisms. Hypochlorous acid (HOCl), the active component of chlorine, oxidizes cellular components and permeabilizes the cytoplasmic membrane (Dukan & Touati, 1996; Hurst et al., 1991; Venkobachar et al., 1977). Extreme alkaline pH also denatures proteins and results in membrane permeabilization (Mendonca et al., 1994). Mechanisms that allow strains of *E. coli* to resist chlorine at alkaline pH include the locus of heat resistance (LHR), a mobile genetic element that improves survival of *E. coli* after chlorine treatment under alkaline conditions (Z. Wang et al., 2020a; Zhi et al., 2016).

LHR is a 15-kb genomic island flanked by mobile genetic elements, which allow transmission among diverse species of *Enterobacteriaceae* (Boll et al., 2017; Mercer et al., 2015). Collectively, genes encoded by the LHR confer resistance to heat, chlorine and oxidative stress by reducing protein aggregation, protein oxidation, and by reducing the oxidation of membrane lipids (C. Lee et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020; Mercer, Nguyen, et al., 2017; Z. Wang et al., 2020a). Proteomic analysis demonstrated that 11 of the 16 putative open reading frames of the LHR are expressed; highly expressed proteins include sHsp20, ClpK_{GI}, sHsp_{GI}, YfdX1_{GI} and YfdX2 (Li et al., 2020). The small heat shock protein sHsps and disaggregase ClpK prevent the aggregation of misfolded proteins or disaggregate and refold the denatured proteins (Haslbeck, 2016; C. Lee et al., 2015a). YfdX with predicted signal peptide in the N-terminus is likely localized in the periplasmic space demonstrating chaperone-like activity (Saha et al., 2016). The LHR also encodes for KefB_{GI}, a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter that may function to maintain a polarized membrane at alkaline conditions (Mercer, Nguyen, et al., 2017) and thus contribute to alkaline resistance, i.e. growth at alkaline pH, or alkaline tolerance, i.e. survival after lethal challenge with alkaline (Padan et al., 2005; Zwietering et al., 1990a), however, a role of KefB_{GI} in alkaline tolerance or alkaline resistance has not been verified experimentally.

Although close homologs of several highly expressed LHR-encoded proteins have been shown or implied to function on bacterial cell envelope, the contribution of LHR to this location remains to be investigated (Ferguson et al., 1995; Li et al., 2020; Saha et al., 2016). The cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria consists of the cytoplasmic membrane, the periplasm, a thin layer of peptidoglycan, and an outer membrane. Homeostasis of the cell envelope in response to perturbations is provided by the envelope stress responses. Cpx, a two-component regulatory system consisting of CpxA, a membrane-associated sensor kinase and the response regulator CpxR is a widely conserved regulator of the envelope stress response in Gram-negative bacteria (Jianming et al., 1993; Weber & Silverman, 1988). The most commonly accepted model suggests that Cpx system detects periplasmic misfolded proteins and maintains the integrity of the cytoplasmic membrane (Raivio et al., 2013; Raivio & Silhavy, 1999). Therefore, the Cpx is a suitable reporter system to monitor putative protective effects of LHR-encoded proteins on the cell envelope. In addition, a functional overlap between LHR and Cpx response also suggests the possibility of crosstalk between these two mechanisms of stress resistance. This study therefore

aimed to determine the function of LHR on maintaining the bacterial cell envelope homeostasis, the regulation of the genes comprising LHR and whether the LHR responds to solely alkaline pH challenge in *E. coli*.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Bacterial strains, plasmids and growth conditions

All strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 2.1. Unless otherwise stated, strains of *Escherichia coli* strains were grown on LB (Luria-Bertani, BD Biosciences, USA) plates or in LB broth with at 37°C with antibiotics added when necessary.

Table 2.1. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study	y.
--	----

Strain/Plasmid	Description	Reference
E. coli MG1655	E. coli K-12 derivatives	
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR	Full-length LHR with its promoter inserted into MG1655 <i>lacZ</i>	This study
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 Δ <i>cpxR</i> ::Kan	<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 with chromosomal <i>cpxR</i> replaced by kanamycin resistance cassette	This study
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR ∆ <i>cpxR</i> ::Kan	<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR with chromosomal <i>cpxR</i> replaced by kanamycin resistance cassette	This study
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR Δ <i>kefB_{GI}::FRT</i>	<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR with LHR <i>kefB_{GI}</i> replaced by FRT scar site	This study
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR Δ <i>kefB_{GI}::FRT</i> Δ <i>cpxR</i> ::Kan	<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR with LHR <i>kefB_{GI}</i> replaced by FRT scar site and chromosomal <i>cpxR</i> replaced by kanamycin resistance cassette	This study
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 <i>lacZ</i> ::LHR ΔevgA::Kan	<i>E. coli</i> MG1655 with chromosomal <i>evgA</i> replaced by kanamycin resistance cassette	This study

(Continuous of Table 2.1)

pJW15	Promoterless luminescence reporter plasmid	(MacRitchie et
	containing <i>luxCDABE</i> operon, <i>ori</i> _{p15A} ; Kan ^r	al., 2008)
pJW25	pJW15 plasmid containing <i>cpxP</i> promoter; Kan ^r	(MacRitchie et al., 2008)
pLHR	Low copy plasmid containing the LHR	(Mercer et al., 2015)
pKDsg-lacZ	Plasmid containing crispr targeting sequencs for lacZ	This Study

2.2.2 Construction of derivatives of E. coli MG1655

The strain *E. coli* MG1655 used in this study is an *E. coli* K-12 derivative. The chromosomal integrated LHR positive strain MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR was constructed by the Scarless Cas9 Assisted Recombineering system (Reisch & Prather, 2015). pLHR was digested by the DraI enzyme (Thermofisher, USA) to linearize the pLHR plasmid which contains the LHR fragment flanked by parts of the *lacZ* gene (Mercer et al., 2015). The λ -Red was pre-induced in a MG1655 strain containing both pKDsg-lacZ and pCas9cr4 followed by an electroporation of the LHR fragments. After recovery, the culture was grown overnight with chloramphenicol (34µg/ml), spectinomycin (50µg/ml) and anhydrotetracycline (100ng/ml). The overnight culture was treated at 60°C for 5min and plated on LB agar containing IPTG (Isopropyl β -d-1-thiogalactopyranoside, 0.2 mM) and X-gal (40mg/mL). White colonies were screened with LHR-16-F/lacZ-upstream, LHR-2-R/lacZ-downstream and *yfdX1*-check-F/R primers in Table 2.2 to get the target mutant followed by plasmids lost.

MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta kefB_{GI}$ was constructed using the λ -Red system(Datsenko & Wanner, 2000).

The donor DNA was PCR-generated possessing chloramphenicol cassette flanked by sequences of up- and downstream of $kefB_{GI}$. pKD46 was transformed into MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR and λ -Red was induced to facilitate the genomic integration of donor DNA. The mutant was picked from plates containing chloramphenicol (25µg/ml) and checked with primers listed in Table 2.2. pCP20 was used to flipped out the chloramphenicol cassette (Cherepanov & Wackernagel, 1995).

Mutant constructions of $\Delta cpxR$ and $\Delta evgA$ were done by P1 transduction based on the previous description (Thomason et al., 2007). Briefly, the P1 *vir* phage was first replicate on the donor KEIO collection single-gene knockout strain and the result P1 lysate was used to infect the recipient strains (Baba et al., 2006). The potential mutants were selected on LB plates containing low concentration kanamycin (25µg/ml) followed by the purification with high concentration condition (50µg/ml). Mutations were confirmed by PCR using the primers listed in Table 2.2

Table	2.2.	Primers	used in	this	study.

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	References
sgRNA-lacZ-F	GGCCAGTGAATCCGTAATCAGTTTTAGAGCT AGAAATAGCAAG	This study
sgRNA-lacZ-R	TGATTACGGATTCACTGGCCGTGCTCAGTAT CTCTATCACTGA	
Targeting sequence	GGCCAGTGAATCCGTAATCA	
LHR-16-F	CGGTATCGCCGTCGACGACG	
lacZ-upstream	GCTGTTGCCCGTCTCACTGG	
LHR-2-R	GCCGGAATTTCCCCGTGTGC	
lacZ-downstream	GGACGACGACAGTATCGGCC	

(Continuous of

Table 2.2)

yfdX1-check-F	TCGGTAAAGAAAGCGGTCAAG	
yfdX1-check-R	CATCGGAAGGTTGTCGGTTT	
kef B- P?	CATCGTGCGCTGGACGTCGACGCAAGTGGG	
KCID-FZ	ACGCTGACCGATGGGAATTAGCCATGGTCC	
kef B- P1	TGGTCACGTAAGACCTGAAATGGGTTAAGG	
Keid-r i	CGTGTTGATTGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	
kefB-check-F	TTGCTGGGGTATCTCTCTGT	
kefB-check-R	CAGCCACATCAATAGCAGGA	
<i>cpxR</i> F	CTATGCGCATCATTTGCTCC	
<i>cpxR</i> R	CATGCTGCTCAATCATCAGC	
		(Datsenko &
k1	CAGTCATAGCCGAATAGCCT	Wanner, 2000)
evgA F	GACGCCTTATGTCTGTATTAC	This study
evgA R	GTTGCTGCGAATCGGTATG	
Orf1-F	GGTGATTTTCACGCTCGATG	
Orf1-R	TCGGATGACTTCTGCTGTTC	
ORF8-F	TCGGTAAAGAAAGCGGTCAAG	(Ma & Chui,
		2017)
ORF8-R	CATCGGAAGGTTGTCGGTTT	(Ma & Chui,
		2017)

Orf13-F	TTGCTGGGGTATCTCTCTGT	This study
Orf13-R	CAGCCACATCAATAGCAGGA	
gapA-F	GTTGACCTGACCGTTCGTCT	(Fang et al., 2017)
gapA-R	ACGTCATCTTCGGTGTAGCC	

2.2.3 Phylogenetic tree of the CpxR response regulator

To construct a phylogenetic tree, the amino acid sequence of CpxR from *E. coli* MG1655 was used as the query to blast against the NCBI non-redundant reference proteins database. The coverage of 70% and identity of 60% were used as the cut-off values. One sequence of each species was picked from the family *Enterobacteriaceae* with the sequence from *Vibrio cholerae* as outgroup to generate the tree. The sequences were aligned by MUSCLE (www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/m), the tree was constructed using maximum likelihood by MEGAX (Stecher et al., 2020) (v10.1.8) and viewed by iTol (itol.embl.de).

2.2.4 Determination of the Cpx activity by bioluminescence assay

Cpx activity was determined by a luminescent reporter assay as described (Price & Raivio, 2009). Single colonies of MG1655 and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR carrying either low copy number plasmids pJW15 or pJW25 were inoculated overnight in LB broth and then subcultured 1:100 in 5mL of LB with 25μ g/ml kanamycin at 30°C with aeration at 200rpm. The Cpx activities were induced at different conditions. Exponentially growing cultures were harvested at an OD_{600nm} of 0.4; stationary phase cultures were harvested at OD_{600nm} of 1.0. To determine the influence of aeration of Cpx activity, half the volume of each subculture was cultivated at aerobic conditions, the other aliquot was incubated in a 2mL microcentrifuge tube which was sealed with parafilm to reduce the diffusion of oxygen. The subcultures were incubated together at 30°C 200rpm for 18h before measurements. To determine the impact of alkaline pH, cells from 2mL culture were harvested and resuspended in 2mL LB with pH adjusted to 7.0, 8.0, 8.5 and 9.0 by adding NaOH (Sigma-Aldrich, Canada). The bacteria were induced for 1h before the readings were taken. For other experiments, exponentially growing bacteria were induced for 2h with the following inducing reagents (final concentration): 1mM ZnSO₄, 1mM CuSO₄ and 6mM 2-phenylethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, Canada); cultures without inducing agent served as reference. Luminescence and cell optical density at 600nm (OD₆₀₀) were measured by plate readers (luminescence: Victor X4, Perkin Elmer, USA; OD₆₀₀: Varioskan Flash, Thermo Scientific, USA) in the volume of 200µL with 96well clear-bottom microtiter plates (Corning, USA). The normalized luminescence value was calculated by standardizing the luminescence intensity to the OD₆₀₀. The values obtained from the strains with pJW15 were used as blank, which were subtracted from the readings acquiring from the same strains containing pJW25. The fold change was calculated from dividing induced conditions by the uninduced condition of the same strain. Bioluminescence assays were performed in triplicate independent experiments.

2.2.5 Measurement of LHR gene expression by RT-qPCR

The bacteria overnight cultures were subcultured 1:100 in LB buffered to a pH of 7.1 and 8.2 by addition of Tris and phosphate (50mM each) (Sigma-Aldrich, Canada) and were grown to an OD_{600nm} of 0.5. The cells were harvested, and the RNA isolation was performed using RNAprotect bacteria reagent and the RNAeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Canada). The gDNA was removed by RQ1 RNase-Free DNase (Promega, USA) and the reverse transcription of the RNA to cDNA was done by QuantiTect[®] reverse transcription kit (Qiagen, Canada). QuantiTect SYBR[®] Green PCR Kits (Qiagen, Canada) and 7500 fast real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems[®], USA) were used to measure the LHR expression with the primers targeting *orf1*, *yfdX1_{GI}* and *kefB_{GI}* (Table 2.2). The

glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase A gene (*gapA*) was used as the house-keeping gene and the DNase digested RNA served as the negative control. The log₂-normalized relative gene expression level was calculated by comparing the values obtained from either MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta cpxR$ or MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta evgA$ to MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR grown under the same pH. Data shown are means of three independent experiments.

2.2.6 Determination of the growth rates

Tris-phosphate (50mM each) buffered LB was prepared at two different pH levels each at two different osmolarity levels and filter sterilized. The low salt media was made by adding 10g tryptone, 5g yeast extract, 4.1g NaCl, 6.1g trizma base and 7.1g Na₂HPO₄ (Sigma-Aldrich, Canada) to 1L distilled water with a final pH of 6.5 or 10.0. The normal salt media was made as described above except including 10g NaCl. To obtain the working media, the two pH LB of each salt concentration were mixed at different ratios in clear-bottom 96-well plates (Corning) to achieve a pH gradient. The resulting pH in media containing the high pH and low pH media in different ratios was measured with a glass electrode (Thermofisher, USA). The bacteria were grown for 24h in 5mL LB broth and subcultured 1:1000 in a final volume of 155µL. OD_{600nm} was measured every 30min for 16h by plate reader while incubating at 37°C with a rotation diameter of 6mm/s. The growth rates were calculated by fitting experimental data to the logistic growth curve (Zwietering et al., 1990b) in SigmaPlot (v12.5, Systat Software Inc., USA) with the data representing three biological replicates.

2.2.7 Determination of the tolerances to extreme alkaline pH with or without chlorine treatment

To determine the bacterial tolerance to extreme alkaline pH, filter-sterilized carbonate-bicarbonate (50mM) buffered LB was prepared by adding 0.525g sodium bicarbonate and 4.637g sodium
carbonate (anhydrous) into 1L LB broth with the final pH of 11.2. Cells were pelleted from 500 μ L of the overnight cultures and resuspended in 500 μ L of carbonate-bicarbonate buffered LB for 5min. Sterile water (4.5mL) was added to the mixture and the after-treatment pH was measured. Alkaline pH tolerance with addition of chlorine was determined by resuspending the bacterial pellet the same volume of filter-sterilized pH 11 LB including 10mM NaClO (5% *w/w*, Sigma-Aldrich). After 5min, cells were harvested by centrifugation and resuspended in fresh LB. The viable cell count was determined by serial dilution and surface plating using LB broth and agar plate for both treated and untreated samples. The values were then log-transformed to obtain the reduction of cell count [log(N₀/N)]. Data represent three independent experiments performed with technical repeats.

2.2.8 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of data was performed using RStudio (v1.2.1335, R Core Team, Austria). Differences among Cpx activity and gene expression were determined with a one-sample two-tailed student's *t*-test (P<0.05); Differences among cell count reductions were determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD (P<0.05).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Co-existence of CpxR response regulator and LHR

In *Enterobacterales*, to date, LHR has only been found in the family *Enterobacteriaceae* and the genus *Yersinia* (Mercer et al., 2015). To provide an initial assessment of cross-talk between CpxR and LHR, we determined whether genomes of those species that encode for the LHR also encode for CpxR. The CpxR response regulator is present in all species possessing the LHR except *Citrobacter braakii*, indicating that crosstalk between the Cpx pathway and LHR is feasible (Fig.

2.3.2 The presence of LHR does not alter Cpx pathway activity

To determine whether LHR plays a role in maintaining protein homeostasis in the bacterial periplasms or inner membrane integrity, we assessed the Cpx activity in *E. coli* MG1655 and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR under various stress conditions. The Cpx response is activated by the stationary phase, aerobic conditions, elevated pH and the presence of zinc, copper and ethanol (Clarke & Voigt, 2011; Danese & Silhavy, 1998; De Wulf et al., 1999; L. J. Lee et al., 2005; Nakayama & Watanabe, 1995; Raivio et al., 2013; Yamamoto & Ishihama, 2006). As a member of the Cpx regulon, *cpxP* is one of the most upregulated genes when Cpx is activated (Danese & Silhavy, 1998). Therefore, pJW15, the promoterless vector control carrying *lux* operon, and its derivative pJW25 with *cpxP'-lux* reporter were used to monitor Cpx activity. The Cpx pathway was highly upregulated after induction relative to the reference conditions in both *E. coli* MG1655 and *E. coli* MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR strains (Fig. 2.2); however, this induction was not altered (*P*>0.05) by the presence of the LHR (Fig. 2.2).



Figure 2.1. A phylogenetic tree showing the distribution of CpxR response regulator in family *Enterobacteriaceae* with *Vibrio cholerae* as the outgroup.



Figure 2.2. The Cpx responses in *E. coli* MG1655 (black bars) and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR (grey bars) under different treatments. The fold change of *cpxP*'-lux activity was calculated relative to the reference conditions as follows: stationary phase vs. log phase (reference); aerobic vs. anaerobic incubation (reference); 1mM ZnSO₄ vs. no addition (reference); 1mM CuSO₄ vs. no addition (reference); 6mM phenylethanol vs. no addition (reference), pH 8.0, 8.5 and 9.0 vs. 7.0 (reference for all three pH values). An asterisk indicates a significant difference of experimental conditions to the respective reference conditions (*P*<0.05). Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments.

2.3.3 LHR transcriptional level is affected by CpxR but not EvgA response regulator under alkaline pH

To determine whether the expression of LHR is directly or indirectly dependent on EvgA or CpxR response regulators, the mRNA of three fragments of the LHR, orf1, $yfdX1_{GI}$ and $kefB_{GI}$ (Mercer, Nguyen, et al., 2017), were quantified by RT-qPCR in *E. coli* MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR, MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta cpxR$ and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta evgA$. At pH 7.1, no difference can be detected on LHR expression without either of the response regulators. At a pH of 8.0, lack of functional EvgA did not affect LHR transcription; however, deletion of CpxR upregulated *orf1*, *yfdX1_{GI}* and *kefB_{GI}*

(Fig. 2.3). Results indicate that alkaline condition activates LHR expression in the absence of CpxR response regulator.



Figure 2.3. The expression level of LHR in *E. coli* MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR with either *cpxR* (black bars) or *evgA* knocked out (grey bars) relative to the expression in MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR. (**Panel A**) pH=7.1. (**Panel B**) pH=8.0. The LHR expression was measured at the level of three putative fragments represented by *orf1*, *yfdX1*_{GI} and *kefB*_{GI} with RT-qPCR by using MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR as reference. Asterisks indicate means that were significantly different from the respective reference conditions (*P*<0.05). Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments.

2.3.4 Cpx but not the LHR is necessary for growth under alkaline pH

Cpx response has been implicated in elevated pH adaptation and $\Delta cpxR$ mutation in *E. coli* resulted in impaired growth under alkaline condition (Danese & Silhavy, 1998). KefB is a glutathioneregulated potassium/proton antiporter protecting bacteria from electrophile toxicity (Ferguson et al., 1993). Therefore, to determine the role of LHT in bacterial alkaline pH resistance and the contribution of *kefB_{GI}*, we assessed the growth rates of *E. coli* MG1655, MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR, MG1655 $\Delta cpxR$, MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta cpxR$ and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta kefB_{GI}$ in buffered LB at pH 6.9 to 9.2. The growth rates of *E. coli* MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR negative and -positive strains were comparable to the strains with a functional CpxR at pH values below 8.0, however, deletion of *cpxR* reduced growth at alkaline pH and reduced the maximum pH-value of growth from 9.2 to 8.2 irrespective of the presence of the LHR (Fig. 2.4). Comparable results were obtained in both low and normal salt media (Fig. 2.4). Therefore, the functional Cpx pathway but not the presence of LHR is required for bacterial growth at mild alkaline pH.



Figure 2.4. The growth rates of *E. coli* MG1655 and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR and gene knockout derivative strains at pH-values ranging from 6.9 to 9.2. (**Panel A**) Low salt: the strains were incubated in Tris-phosphate (50mM+50mM) buffered low salt LB, with NaCl reduced in the corresponding amount. (**Panel B**) Normal salt: the strains were incubated in Tris-phosphate (50mM+50mM) buffered normal salt LB. All the strains were subcultured at 1:1000 from overnight cultures and incubated at 37 °C for 16 hours. (•) MG1655, (•) MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR, (▲) MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta cpxR$, (□) MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta kefB_{GI}$. Data are mean ± standard deviation of three independent experiments.

2.3.5 LHR improves bacterial survival to extreme alkaline pH in the presence of chlorine

To further explore the role of CpxR and the LHR at alkaline conditions, survival of *E. coli* MG1655, MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR, MG1655 $\Delta cpxR$, MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta cpxR$, MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta kefB_{GI}$

and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR $\Delta cpxR$ $\Delta kefB_{GI}$ under extreme alkaline condition in the absence or presence of chlorine was determined. All strains survived challenge at pH 11.0 for 5 min with a reduction of viable cell counts of less than 1 log (cfu/mL); challenge at pH 11.3 reduced cell counts of all strains to levels below the detection limit (Fig. 2.5). When treated with carbonate-bicarbonate buffered LB at pH 11.2, the viable cell counts of all strains was reduced by about 1-2 log (cfu/mL) (Fig. 2.6A). *E. coli* MG1655 and its *cpxR* null derivative demonstrated a similarly high level of sensitivity to pH 11.0 with addition of chlorine (Fig. 2.6). The wildtype strain harbouring LHR was more tolerant (*P*<0.05) to alkaline conditions in the presence of chlorine; however, deletion of *cpxR* or *kefB_{GI}* or both diminished tolerance (Fig. 2.6). In summary, LHR improves bacterial survival under extreme alkaline pH only in the presence of chlorine, which is also *cpxR* and *kefB_{GI}* dependent.



Figure 2.5. Reduction of cell counts of *E. coli* MG1655 and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR and gene knockout derivative strains under different pH. (A) The overnight cultures of all the tested strains were treated with 50mM Carbonate-bicarbonate buffered LB under pH 11.0 condition for 5min. (B) The overnight cultures of all the tested strains were treated under pH 11.3 condition for 5min. Bars with different superscripts are statistically different in each panel. Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments.



Figure 2.6. Reduction of cell counts of *E. coli* MG1655 and MG1655 *lacZ*::LHR and gene knockout derivative strains under different killing conditions. (A) Extreme alkaline pH killing: the overnight cultures of all the tested strains were treated with 50mM Carbonate-bicarbonate buffered LB under pH 11.2 condition for 5min. (B) Extreme alkaline pH plus chlorine killing: the overnight cultures of all the tested strains were treated under pH 11 with 10mM NaClO condition for 5min. Bars with different superscripts are statistically different in each panel. Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 The functional overlap between LHR and Cpx response

We hypothesized in this study that proteins encoded by the LHR contribute to cell envelope homeostasis, therefore, promoting bacterial survival under various stress conditions. EvgAS is a two-component regulatory system has been shown related to osmotic adaptation, acid and antibiotic resistance by regulating the genes encode chaperone-like proteins and drug transporters (Masuda & Church, 2002; Nishino & Yamaguchi, 2001). The expression of the *vfdX* gene on E. *coli* chromosome is significantly induced by the overexpression of EvgA response regulator (Nishino & Yamaguchi, 2001). YfdX demonstrates chaperone-like activity preventing protein aggregation and exhibits a pH-dependent stoichiometric conversion between dimeric and tetrameric states at pH 10.0 and 7.5 respectively, which suggests its possible function involved in pH adaptation (H. S. Lee et al., 2018; Saha et al., 2016). YfdX possesses a predicted signal peptide in the N-terminus indicating its localization in the periplasm (Saha et al., 2016). A deletion of yfdXcould be complemented by overexpressing of the periplasmic chaperone HdeA, supporting the above prediction (Id et al., 2019). YfdX1_{GI} in LHR also includes a predicted Sec-dependent protein secretion signal peptide at its N-terminus (SignalP, v5.0, Denmark (Almagro Armenteros et al., 2019)). LHR confers significant chlorine resistance (Z. Wang et al., 2020a). Chlorine can nonselectively oxidize cellular components including proteins and nucleotides, and also destruct the cytoplasmic membrane permeability (Dukan & Touati, 1996; Hurst et al., 1991; Venkobachar et al., 1977). Protein denaturation and aggregation in both cytoplasm and periplasm or the membrane leakage induced by chlorine treatments can eventually lead to cell death. However, our results suggest LHR does not function to mitigate the impact of those stressors that activate the Cpx response, however, expression of LHR in *E. coli* is under the control of CpxR. The LHR reduces

the oxidation of membrane lipids (Z. Wang et al., 2020a); the present study thus suggests that oxidation of membrane lipids is not an inducing signal for the Cpx pathway.

Bioinformatic analyses demonstrated CpxR response regulator is present in *Enterobacterales*, including all of those species that include strains which possess the LHR except *Citrobacter braakii*. Deletion of the CpxR response regulator did not alter LHR expression at neutral pH but increased its transcription level at pH 8.0. The Cpx pathway responds to elevated extracellular pH. Although growth of the *cpxR* null mutant strain was comparable to the wildtype strain at neutral pH, it's growth was impaired at alkaline conditions and failed to grow at pH 9.0 to 9.2 (Danese & Silhavy, 1998; Price & Raivio, 2009). These results suggested that LHR may only confer the cells with tolerance to lethal alkaline conditions and that Cpx response may act as a "switch" which can shift the bacterial adaptation from the mild to lethal stresses: Under moderate stress conditions, the activation of the Cpx pathway mitigates periplasmatic stress and maintain the LHR expression at a low level to reduce fitness cost. At extreme stress conditions, LHR expression is de-repressed or activated directly or indirectly to improve the bacterial survival.

2.4.2 The function of LHR on bacterial alkaline pH adaptation

The adaptation to mild alkaline pH in mesophilic bacteria includes increasing acid production and ATP generation in the central carbon metabolism, enhanced expression of transporters, and modification of membrane properties (Dilworth & Glenn, 1999; Enomoto & Koyama, 1999; Hicks et al., 2010; Krulwich et al., 1998; Maurer et al., 2005; Mayer et al., 2010; Padan et al., 2005; Y. Yang et al., 2014). Among these, proton pumps and cation/proton antiporters are main contributors to the ability of bacteria to maintain their internal pH. This supports growth at an external pH of 5.5–9.0 while maintaining the cytoplasmic pH in the narrow range of 7.5–7.7 (Hunte et al., 2005; Krulwich et al., 2009, 2011; Nakamura et al., 1984; Padan et al., 2005; Padan & Schuldiner, 1994;

Saito & Kobayashi, 2003; Slonczewski et al., 2009). To date, very few reports demonstrate how mesophilic bacteria survive under extreme alkaline pH. The LHR did not enhanced the resistance or tolerance of *E. coli* to alkaline pH; however, the presence of both the Cpx pathway and the LHR enhanced the tolerance of E. coli to lethal challenge with alkaline. The Cpx system in conjunction with σ^{E} and σ^{32} responses can sense and regulate gene expression in response to oxidative stress and high pH (Danese & Silhavy, 1998; Dartigalongue & Raina, 1998; Raivio & Silhavy, 1999). In Salmonella enterica Typhimurium, CpxR is required to cope with bacterial oxidative damage (López et al., 2018). That suggests us the function of LHR to alkaline tolerance may require oxidative stress as the inducing signal. The E. coli genomic KefB is a potassium/proton antiporter repressed by glutathione (GSH) and the glutathione-deficient mutants exhibit reduced cytoplasmic pH at 7.35 comparing to its parent strain at 7.85 (Elmore et al., 1990; Ferguson & Booth, 1998). The Kef channels are regulated by their C-terminal NAD-binding domains containing a single binding site for GSH (Roosild et al., 2010). The GSH can stabilize an interdomain association between two NAD-binding folds therefore inhibit Kef activity (Roosild et al., 2010). GSH, a predominant low-molecular-weight thiol in most gram-negative bacteria, has been proposed to protect cells from oxidative damage. In vitro, 1 mol GSH can react with 3.5 to 4.0 mol HOCl (Harwood et al., 2006). In E. coli, the glutathione-deficient strain is twice as sensitive to killing by chlorine comparing to its isogenic glutathione-sufficient strain (Chesney et al., 1996). The lethal level of oxidative stress can dramatically increase the amount of intracellular glutathione disulfide (GSSG) and decrease the ratio of GSH/GSSG (Smirnova et al., 2000). Therefore, the addition of chlorine can consume the GSH in the bacterial cell then activate $kefB_{GI}$ leading to cytoplasmic acidification which protects bacteria from lethal effect during electrophilic attack (Ferguson et al., 1995). Hence, the functional $kefB_{GI}$ plays an essential and specific role in protecting the bacteria

from the extreme alkaline condition with the presence of chlorine. Taken together, our results are consistent with the proposed model demonstrating the role of the Cpx pathway and LHR on sensing and protecting the bacteria from the lethal alkaline pH with the presence of oxidative stress. Notably, we also observed that bacterial survival and death under extreme alkaline conditions occurred within a very narrow pH, which is opposite to its survival under extreme acidic pH. Bacterial survival at low pH is well understood as microbes encounter acid environments in many situations including low pH foods and during gastrointestinal transit. E. coli withstands exposure to the extreme acidic condition—less than 1 log cell reduction at pH 2.5 for at least 2 h—as it possesses several amino acid-dependent extreme acid resistance mechanisms (Bhat & Alex, 1998; De Biase & Lund, 2015; Lund et al., 2014; Richard & Foster, 2004). The acid stress response maintains the bacterial intracellular pH through the amino acid-dependent decarboxylase/ antiporter activities and protects the proteins from acid damage by inducing the periplasmic chaperone expression (Castanie-Cornet et al., 1999; Iyer et al., 2003; Kern et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2014; Meng & Bennett, 1992). However, how bacteria tolerant the extreme alkaline pH is poorly documented in the literature. Therefore, our discovery on defining the bacteria alkaline pH killing range: E. coli MG1655 can withstand the exposure to alkaline pH until 11.2 with significant survival whereas exhibiting dramatic killing at pH 11.3 (Fig. 2.5). The mechanism behind this phenomenon remains to be investigated.

2.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the known species possessing LHR also have functional Cpx response suggesting the possible crosstalk between the Cpx pathway and LHR. LHR does not functionally relate with solely alkaline pH tolerance but needs the presence of chlorine, which also depends on Cpx response. In contrast with the Cpx two-component regulatory system which contributes to bacterial stress adaptation under non-lethal conditions, LHR functions on protecting the bacteria from lethal challenges. CpxR response regulator negatively regulates LHR transcription at normal growth conditions to reduce the fitness cost; in addition, Cpx response may act as a 'switch' sensing the lethal stress and turning on the LHR expression to improve the bacterial survival.

Chapter 3. Protein aggregation as a bacterial survival strategy in *Salmonella* Typhimurium and *Cronobacter sakazakii* under desiccation

3.1 Introduction

Salmonella and *Cronobacter sakazakii* are well-known for their desiccation tolerant lifestyles. As facultative intracellular pathogens, *Salmonella* have adapted to the gastrointestinal tract of mammalian, avian, and reptilian hosts but fecal-oral transmission requires their ability to persist in dry environments when transitioning between host individuals or host species (Malik-Kale et al., 2011). *C. sakazakii* naturally associates with plants which also requires its rapid adaptation to dry environment during transmission (Schmid et al., 2009). In contrast, strains of *Escherichia coli* are more phenotypically diverse and may live in different environments including vertebrate hosts, plants, and aquatic environments (Gordienko et al., 2013).

Water activity (a_W) is a major factor in preventing or limiting microbiol growth, while *Salmonella* and *C. sakazakii* may remain viable for lengthy periods of time due to their high level of desiccation tolerance in low-a_W foods (a_W<0.85) (Beuchat et al., 2013). Over the past several decades, processed ready-to-eat low-a_W foods including powdered infant formula (PIF), breakfast cereal, chocolate, tree nuts and tree nut-containing products, dry seasonings, paprika-powdered potato chips, dried mixed fruit and peanut butter have been associated with outbreaks of salmonellosis worldwide (Cahill et al., 2008; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1998, 2004, 2009; Jernberg C et al., 2015; Johansen et al., 2021; Lehmacher et al., 1995; Schmitt et al., 2018; Werber et al., 2005). *C. sakazakii* is notorious for its ability to cause life-threatening health complications in neonates and infants after consumption of contaminated PIF (Henry & Fouladkhah, 2019). After infection, death can occur within hours of the onset of symptoms with mortality rates ranging from 31% to 80% (Drudy et al., 2006). Therefore, understanding the

mechanisms of desiccation tolerance in bacteria will provide information for the development of control strategies to reduce contamination of foods with dry-tolerant pathogens.

Bacteria have evolved a variety of mechanisms to mitigate the detrimental effects of drying including the accumulating compatible solutes, the use of alternative sigma factors to upregulate genes involved in combatting oxidative stress, regulation of lipid and DNA metabolic processes, energy conservation, lipopolysaccharide modifications, and capsule and biofilm formation (Burgess et al., 2016; Garmiri et al., 2008; Gibson et al., 2006; Kempf & Bremer, 1998; Kragh & Truelstrup Hansen, 2020; Mandal & Kwon, 2017; Ophir & Gutnick, 1994; Pratt et al., 2016; Schnider-Keel et al., 2001; Truelstrup Hansen & Vogel, 2011). Surprisingly, protein aggregation also contributes to desiccation tolerance in Acinetobacter baumannii (X. Wang et al., 2020). This discovery is unanticipated since the formation of cellular protein aggregates are considered detrimental as it often indicates that the proteome is under stress. The capacity of the cell to synthesize, fold, transport and degrade proteins depends on its protein homeostasis network (David et al., 2016). In all domains of life, the primary driving force of protein folding is non-covalent interactions involving both the polypeptide back-bone and the amino acid side chains that allow the proteins to rapidly reach their native three-dimensional conformation (Dill et al., 2008). However, transient folding-intermediates are generated during the folding process that are vulnerable to perturbations of the proteostasis state triggered by environmental and cellular stresses and thus tend to unfold or misfold to form protein aggregates (Schramm et al., 2014). The role of protein aggregates in desiccation tolerance of C. sakazakii and Salmonella and the corresponding mechanisms is unknown.

The transmissible locus of stress tolerance (tLST), formerly known as the locus of heat resistance (LHR), is a plasmid-encoded or chromosomal genomic island widely transmitted across diverse

37

species of beta- and gamma-Proteobacteria (Kamal et al., 2021; Mercer et al., 2015; Mercer, Nguyen, et al., 2017). The tLST highly expresses the protein homeostasis module which contains the small heat shock proteins sHsp20 and sHsp_{GI}, and the disaggregase $ClpK_{GI}$, all of which prevent protein aggregation or disaggregate and refold denatured proteins (Li et al., 2020). The tLST can be expensive for strains to maintain (Li et al., 2020; Z. Wang et al., 2021). Its contribution to protein homeostasis increases bacterial tolerance to heat, high pressure and oxidative stress (Li et al., 2020; Mercer et al., 2015; Z. Wang et al., 2020b). However, the effect of the tLST on bacterial desiccation tolerance by reducing protein aggregates or other unknown pathways remains elusive. In this study, we take advantage of the tLST, specifically the components comprising its protein homeostasis module, to create different levels of protein aggregates within the cell to determine the impact of bacterial protein aggregation on desiccation tolerance of S. enterica serovar Typhimurium and C. sakazakii in comparison to E. coli. As the small heat-shock protein IbpA co-aggregates with the aggregated protein preventing its irreversible denaturation, the *ibpAyfp* fusion construction was used in this study to visualize the protein aggregates in the bacterial population (Lindner et al., 2008).

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Bacterial strains and growth conditions

All strains and plasmids used in this study are shown in Tables 3.1, respectively. Bacterial strains were grown on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA, BD Biosciences, USA) or in Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB, BD Biosciences) at 37°C with antibiotics added when necessary. Unless otherwise stated, antibiotics (Sigma-Aldrich, Canada) were used at the following concentrations: ampicillin, 100µg/ml;

chloramphenicol, 34µg/ml; kanamycin, 50µg/ml; tetracycline, 25µg/ml.

Strain/Plasmid	Description	Reference	
E. coli TOP10	Cloning strain	Invitrogen	
<i>E. coli</i> MG1655	Escherichia coli K-12 derivative		
S. Typhimurium ATCC	Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica	ATCC	
13311	serovar Typhimurium ATCC 13311		
C. sakazakii FUA 10122	Cronobacter sakazakii FUA 10122	(Z. Wang et al.,	
	isolated from Daqu	2018)	
E. coli MG1655 ibpA-yfp	E. coli MG1655 derivative expressing a	(Govers & Aertsen,	
	IbpA-YFP fusion protein	2015)	
S. Typhimurium ATCC	S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311	This study	
13311 <i>ibpA-yfp</i>	derivative expressing a IbpA-YFP		
	fusion protein		
C. sakazakii FUA 10122	C. sakazakii FUA 10122 derivative	This study	
ibpA-yfp	expressing a IbpA-YFP fusion protein		
pCA24N	High copy number plasmid; Cm ^R	(Kitagawa et al.,	
		2005)	
pUC19	High copy number plasmid; Amp ^R	Sigma	
pRK767	Low copy number plasmid; Tet ^R	(Gill & Warren,	
		1988)	
peGFP	Source of egfp gene	Clontech	
pRKp2	tLST <i>p2</i> promoter cloned into pRK767;	This study	
	Tet ^R		
pLHR	tLST <i>p2</i> promoter and the full length of	(Mercer et al.,	
	tLST cloned into pRK767; Tet ^R	2015)	
pRF1	tLST p2 promoter and protein	(Mercer et al.,	
	homeostasis module cloned into	2015)	
	pRK767; Tet ^R		

Table 3.1. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.

(Continuous of Table 3.1)		
pRKp2::orf1	LHR promoter and orf1 cloned into	This study
	pRK767; Tet ^R	
pRKp2::shsp20	LHR promoter and <i>shsp</i> ₂₀ cloned into	This study
	pRK767; Tet ^R	
pRK <i>p2::clpK</i> _{GI}	LHR promoter and $clpK_{GI}$ cloned into	This study
	pRK767; Tet ^R	
pRKp2::shsp20-clpKGI	tLST $p2$ promoter, $shsp_{20}$ and $clpK_{GI}$	This study
	cloned into pRK767; Tet ^R	
pRKp2::clpK _{GI} -	tLST p2 promoter and the double-point	This study
E383A/E723A	mutant of $clpK_{GI}$ cloned into pRK767;	
	Tet ^R	
pRKp2::shsp20-clpK _{GI} -	tLST p2 promoter, shsp20 and the	This study
E383A/E723A	double-point mutant of $clpK_{GI}$ cloned	
	into pRK767; Tet ^R	
pRKp2::shspGI	tLST <i>p2</i> promoter and <i>shspGI</i> cloned	This study
	into pRK767; Tet ^R	
pRKp2::egfp	tLST p2 promoter and egfp cloned into	This study
	pRK767; Tet ^R	
pUCkan	pUC19 carrying kanamycin resistance	Invitrogen
	cassette; Amp ^R , Kan ^R	
pUCp2::egfp	tLST p2 promoter, orf1 and egfp cloned	(Mercer et al.,
	in pUC19; Amp ^R	2017)
pUC <i>p2</i> ∆D:: <i>egfp</i>	<i>pUCp2::egfp</i> with a 5-bp deletion at	(Mercer et al.,
	positions -30 to -35 upstream from orf1	2017)
	start codon; Amp ^R	

3.2.2 Determination of the frequency of tLST in Cronobacter sakazakii

Genome metadata was downloaded from NCBI using NCBImeta (Eaton, 2020) to identify the isolation sources of publicly available *C. sakazakii* genomes. Genomes from strains originating

from humans, powdered infant milk formula, powdered infant milk formula facilities, dried food and environmental sources were downloaded and made into blast databases. A blastn v.2.9.0 (Camacho et al., 2009) search was performed on each database using the nucleotide sequence of *shsp20* and *clpK* from the tLST found in *E. coli* AW1.7 (LDYJ01000141). The tLST positive and negative genomes were counted and a chi-squared test was performed, comparing each group to the environmental group and comparing the PIF group to the PIF facilities (P<0.05). The PIF facilities database included the sequences from PIF so the latter was subtracted from the former for the final table.

3.2.3 Construction of *ibpA-yfp* fusion strains

The FRT-flanked chloramphenicol resistance (*cat*) gene which followed the *ibpA*-yfp locus in *Escherichia coli* MGAY (Lindner et al., 2008) was excised by transiently equipping this strain with a Flp site-specific recombinase expressing plasmid, pFLP2 (Hoang et al., 1998). The 700-1000bp regions up- and downstream of *ibpA* of *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 were amplified and assembled with the PCR products containing the *ibpA-yfp*-FRT-*cat*-FRT sequences from MGAY strain through circular polymerase extension cloning (CPEC) method (Quan & Tian, 2009). The reactions were carried out using Phusion High-Fidelity PCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific). All primers used are listed in Table 3.2. The resulting donor DNA was electroporated into *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 (pSIM19) and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 (pSIM19), which transiently expressed the λ -Red system (Datta et al., 2006). The strains were cured of the plasmid by growing at 42°C for overnight. The potential mutants were selected at 10µg/ml followed by the purification at 34µg/ml chloramphenicol on Luria-Bertani (LB; BD Biosciences) agar plates. The FRT-flanked *cat* gene was removed as described above. All resulting mutants were tested for loss of antibiotic resistance and screened for the presence of fluorescent

foci with a fluorescence microscope.

3.2.4 Plasmid constructions

The genes on protein homeostasis module including *orf1*, *shsp20*, *clpK_{GI}*, *shspGi*, *shsp20-clpK_{GI}* and *egfp* were amplified using pLHR (Mercer et al., 2015) and peGFP (Clotech) as templates and placed behind the predicted tLST promoter *p2* on the pRK767 plasmid. The generated amplicons containing the *p2* promoter and the desired genes were fused in-frame and inserted into KpnI/HindIII (Fastdigest, Thermofisher, USA) digested pRK767 using GeneArtTM Gibson Assembly HiFi Master Mix (Invitrogen, USA) and transformed into *E. coli* TOP10. To introduce the double-point mutations, the amplicons of *clpK_{GI}* and *shsp20-clpK_{GI}* were cloned into NotI/HindIII digested pCA24N with the CPEC method, adding in mutations with site-directed mutagenesis primers. The double-point mutants were inserted into pRK767 together with the *p2* promoter as described above. All of the constructed plasmids were fully sequenced to confirm the identity of the inserts. pRK767 and pU19 together with all the pRK767- and pUC19-based recombinant vectors were individually electroporated into corresponding strains. All transformants were confirmed using PCR. The primers used for PCR are listed in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2. Primers used in this study.

Used for	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Reference
Plasmid	orf1-check-F	GGTGATTTTCACGCTCGATG	(Z. Wang et al., 2021; Zhu et al.,
transformation check	orf1-check-R	TCGGATGACTTCTGCTGTTC	2021)
	sHsp20-check-F	TACAAGATTGCCCTGGAAGT	
	sHsp20-check-R	CTTGATCGAATCCTGGTTGG	
	$clpK_{GI}$ -check-F	CCATTCTTATGTCGGTCCAGAG	
	<i>clpK</i> _{GI} -check-R	CCACCTTGCTGACCTGTT	
	sHsp _{GI} -check-F	TCCGGGAACTGGATGAATTG	
	sHsp _{GI} -check-R	AGATCCAGCTTGAGGAGGAA	
	yfdX1-check-F	TCGGTAAAGAAAGCGGTCAAG	
	yfdX1-check-R	CATCGGAAGGTTGTCGGTTT	
	orf11-check-F	GAAGCGATTGTCCGAGCTAAG	
	orf11-check-R	TGCTTGCCACTTCGTTATCC	
Plasmid	Promoter-F	AGTCACGACGTTGTAAAACGACGGCCAGTGA	This study
constructions		ATTCGAGCTCGGCTGTCCATTGCCTGAGC	
	Promoter-R	AATTTCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGACCATGAT	
		TACGCCACTCACCCTCTCCAATCGCGTC	
	orf1-R	ACAATTTCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGACCATG	
		ATTACGCCATCAAGCCCTTTGCCTGCTG	
	Promoter-sHSP20-R	GAACCAGTTCCAGGGAGCCAACTTCTTGAAAT	
		CGATGTCCATCTCACCCTCTCCAATCGC	

(Continuous of Table 3.2)			
	<i>sHSP20</i> -F	CGGAACCGCAAAGCGACGCGATTGGAGAGGG	
		TGAGATGGACATCGATTTCAAGAAGTTGG	
	<i>sHSP20-</i> R	ACAATTTCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGACCATG	
		ATTACGCCATCAGCCGTTGATCGGGATC	
	Promoter- <i>clpK_{GI}</i> -R	GTGGCGGGTTGGCCGCAGACCTGGCATTGTTT	
		TCTGGCCATCTCACCCTCTCCAATCGCG	
	$clpK_{GI}$ -F	TTGGCCGGAACCGCAAAGCGACGCGATTGGA	
		GAGGGTGAGATGGCCAGAAAACAATGCCA	
	$clpK_{GI}$ -R	TAACAATTTCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGACCA	
		TGATTACGCCATCAAGATGCGTCGCTCG	
	Promoter-sHSP _{GI} -R	TCCAGTTCCCGGAAGGGGTCCCACGGAGTCAA	
		TGCAGACATCTCACCCTCTCCAATCGCG	
	<i>sHSP_{GI}</i> -F	GGCCGGAACCGCAAAGCGACGCGATTGGAGA	
		GGGTGAGATGTCTGCATTGACTCCGTGGG	
	sHSP _{GI} -R	CAGGAAACAGCTATGACCATGATTACGCCATT	
		AGTTGACTGAGATTTCAATCTGTTTCGG	
	Promoter-yfp-R	ACCACCCGGTGAACAGCTCCTCGCCCTTGCT	
		CACCATCTCACCCTCTCCAATCGCGTCG	
	<i>yfp</i> -F	GGCCGGAACCGCAAAGCGACGCGATTGGAGA	
		GGGTGAGATGGTGAGCAAGGGCGAGGAGC	

(Continuous of Table	3.2)		
	yfp-R	TTCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGACCATGATTAC	
		GCCATTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCC	
	<i>clpK_{GI}</i> -pCA-F	ATACGGATCCGGCCCTGAGGCCTATGCGGCCG	
		CAGTAAATGGCCAGAAAACAATGCCAGG	
	pCA- <i>clpK_{GI}</i> -R	GTGGCGGGTTGGCCGCAGACCTGGCATTGTTT	
		TCTGGCCATTTACTGCGGCCGCATAGGC	
	pCA- <i>clpK_{GI}</i> -F	CGCAAGAAGAAGTCGGCGAGCGACGCATCTT	
		GAAAGCTTAATTAGCTGAGCTTGGACTCC	
	<i>clpK_{GI}</i> -pCA-R	TGGATCTATCAACAGGAGTCCAAGCTCAGCTA	
		ATTAAGCTTTCAAGATGCGTCGCTCGCC	
	<i>clpK</i> -E/A-P1-F	GCTGATTTTGTTCATCGACGCGGTGCACACCA	
		TCGTCGG	
	<i>clpK</i> -E/A-P1-R	CCGACGATGGTGTGCACCGCGTCGATGAACAA	
		AATCAGC	
	<i>clpK</i> -E/A-P2-F	GTGCTGCTGCTCGACGCGATCGAGAAGGCACA	
		CCCTG	
	<i>clpK</i> -E/A-P2-R	CAGGGTGTGCCTTCTCGATCTCGCCGAGCAGC	
		AGCAC	
Plasmid construction	pRK-seq-F	GATGTGCTGCAAGGCGATTAAG	
sequence check			
	pRK-seq-R	GCTTCCGGCTCGTATGTTGTG	This study

	pCA-seq-F	GAGAGGATCTCACCATCACC	
	pCA-seq-R	GAGGTCATTACTGGATCTATCAAC	
	<i>clpK</i> -seq-2	GATTGGTCTGGCCGAGGAAG	
	clpK-seq-3	GGAGTCCGAACTGCACCAG	
	clpK-seq-4	CCAACACCATCATCATCGCC	
	clpK-seq-6	CCGCATCAGCGAACAGTC	
	clpK-seq-7	CAGAAGGTGCTGAAGGAG	
	clpK-seq-8	GACATGTCGGAATATGGCG	
	clpK-seq-9	GATCAGACGCTGATCGAC	
	ST- <i>ibp</i> -fusion-F	TTAGCTATTTAACGCGGGACGTTC	
	ST- <i>ibp</i> -fusion-R	ATGCGTAACTTTGATTTATCCCCGC	This study
<i>ibpA-yfp</i> fusion	CS-1000-up-F	GCAGCATGATGGCAATGCCG	This study
strain constructions	CS- <i>ibp</i> -fusion-tail-R	CGTATCGCTATCAGCGAACGTCCCGCGTTAAA	
		TAGCTAACGGCATCGTATGAAAAGGCCC	
	ibp-fusion-CS-tail-F	AGGCCCCGCTGCGGGGGGCCTTTTCATACGATG	
		CCGTTAGCTATTTAACGCGGGACGTTCG	
	ibp-fusion-CS-tail-R	GGCGATGTTAACTCTCGCTGATTTCAGGAGTA	
		TGTATGCGTAACTTTGATTTATCCCCGC	
	CS- <i>ibp</i> -fusion-tail-F	AGAACGGTAAAGCGGGGGATAAATCAAAGTTA	
		CGCATACATACTCCTGAAATCAGCGAGAG	
	CS-1000-down-R	CCTGACGTTCACGCACGATC	

3.2.5 Determination of the bacterial dry tolerance in 0.1% peptone water

Bacterial dry tolerance was determined in sterile 0.1% peptone (BD Biosciences, USA) water as previously described (Seeras, 2017). Briefly, single colonies of E. coli MG1655, S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and C. sakazakii FUA 10122 carrying the desired plasmids were inoculated overnight in TSB at 37°C with aeration at 200rpm. A 100µL aliquot of each inoculum was spread onto TSA plates and incubated aerobically for 24h at 37°C. Sterile 0.1% peptone water was prepared by adding 1g peptone into 1L distilled water and sterilized. The bacterial lawns were collected from the surface of the TSA plates and washed three times with 1mL 0.1% peptone water. The harvested cells were resuspended to a final volume of 1mL. The initial viable cell counts were determined by serial dilution in 0.1% peptone water and surface plating using 0.1% peptone water on LB agar plates. A 25µL of each bacterial suspension was spread evenly into the 24-well microtiter plates (Corning) and air-dried in a biosafety cabinet for 5h. After drying, plates were transferred to air-tight containers containing saturated NaCl solution to achieve a aw of 0.75 and stored at 21°C for up to 21 days. A 200 μ L aliquot of 0.1% peptone water was used to rehydrate the cells for enumeration as described above. Results are presented in log-transformed ratio of cell counts before and after drying $[\log(N/N_0)]$. Data shown are means of three independent experiments.

3.2.6 Visualization and counting the percentage of protein aggregates in the bacterial population

Cell suspensions for *E. coli* MG1655 *ibpA-yfp*, *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 *ibpA-yfp* and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 *ibpA-yfp* carrying the desired plasmids were harvested from TSA plates and washed in 0.1% peptone as described above. The suspensions were transferred to a microscope slide, quickly mixed with pre-warmed liquid 0.8% agarose in 1:1 ratio and covered with a glass cover slip. The same position of the slide was observed with a fluorescence phase contrast

microscope to obtain both fluorescence and bright-field images (Carl Zeiss). Images were overlayered with Photoshop CC (v. 19.0, Adobe Inc.). The proportion of protein aggregates in a cell population was calculated by dividing the number of cells possessing visible fluorescent foci by the total number of cells observed under bright-field. Data shown are means of three independent experiments with analysis of at least 300 cells per strain.

3.2.7 Determination of the dry tolerance of bacteria in infant formula

Cell suspensions for *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 carrying the desired plasmids were acquired in the same way as described above. A suspension (1mL) was homogeneously mixed with 7g powdered infant formula (Enfamil A+®, Canada) in a sterile stomacher bag (Whirl-pak®, Canada). After air-drying in a biosafety cabinet for 5h, the lumpy mixture was crushed for 4min into fine powder with a stomacher. Each sample (0.5g) was aliquoted into 24-well plates and was transferred to air-tight containers containing saturated MgCl₂ solution to achieve a a_W of 0.33 and stored at 21°C for up to 112 days. Viable cell counts were determined before and after drying by rehydrating the powder with 2mL 0.1% peptone water followed by serial dilution and surface plating on Violet Red Bile Agar (VRBA) (BD Biosciences, USA). The cell counts were log-transformed and the reduction of cell counts [log(N/N₀)] was calculated. Data shown are the mean of three independent experiments.

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of data was performed using SPSS (v. 26.0, SPSS Inc.) software. Differences in reduction of cell counts was tested with a two-way ANOVA with Tukey's HSD *post hoc* analysis (P<0.05). The effect of tLST or protein homeostasis module on protein aggregation was tested with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's HSD *post hoc* analysis (P<0.05). Results are shown as means ± standard deviations for three biological replicates. The chi-squared

test on the frequency of the tLST in *C. sakazakii* from different environments was preformed using Microsoft Excel 2016.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Dry environments select against the tLST in Cronobacter sakazakii

The frequency of tLST in isolates of *C. sakazakii* from different environments was compared to investigate the possible selective pressure for tLST-positive *C. sakazakii*. In a total of 322 isolates, the tLST was enriched in isolates from humans and PIF facilities but was reduced in isolates from dried sources relative to environmental sources (Table 3.3). The PIF isolates have a lower frequency of the tLST than the isolates from facilities producing PIF (P<0.05), indicating that the drying process of PIF might be detrimental to survival of the tLST-positive strains (Table 3.3). Table 3.3. The frequency of tLST in *C. sakazakii* from different environments.

]	solation sources		
Environmental	Dried	PIF facilities	PIF formula	Hu

	Environmental	Dried	PIF facilities	PIF formula	Human
tLST	7	5	42	9	82
no tLST	30	66	30	21	30
tLST frequency (%)	19	7	58	30	73
χ^2 vs. environmental		3.69x10 ⁻¹¹	2.63x10 ⁻⁶⁵	7.05x10 ⁻²	9.03x10 ⁻¹⁷⁷
χ^2 vs. PIF facilities				4.92x10 ⁻¹³	

3.3.2 Impact of the tLST and its protein homeostasis module on desiccation tolerance

The bioinformatic results suggested a relationship between the tLST and desiccation environment and the detrimental effects of the tLST on desiccation tolerance was experimentally confirmed in *Salmonella* Typhimurium (Seeras, 2017). The current study assessed whether this phenomenon is relevant in different species of the *Enterobacteriaceae* and whether the effect is due to the tLST protein homeostasis module. The desiccation tolerance of *Escherichia coli* MG1655, *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 was determined using derivatives of the low copy number plasmid pRK767 (Gill & Warren, 1988): pLHR carrying the tLST, pRF1 carrying the protein homeostasis module of the tLST or pRK767 itself, the vector control (Mercer et al., 2015). Peptone water was used as the drying matrix to avoid osmotic stress that would result from drying in saline (Amezaga & Booth, 1999). All strains of *E. coli* MG1655 rapidly died at the same rate regardless of the presence of plasmids (Fig. 3.1A) while expression of the tLST substantially reduced desiccation tolerance in *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 (Fig. 3.1B) and moderately in *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 (Fig. 3.1C). Remarkably, in both *S.* Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii*, the presence of the protein homeostasis module alone decreased the level of desiccation tolerance comparable to that of strains carrying the full-length tLST (Fig. 3.1B, C). Overall, the tLST, specifically the protein homeostasis module, reduces desiccation tolerance in *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 but not *E. coli* MG1655.



Figure 3.1. Influence of tLST or protein homeostasis module on desiccation survival of *E. coli* MG1655, *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 after exposure to $a_W 0.75$ at 21°C. (A) *E. coli* MG1655 pRK767 (\bigcirc), pLHR (\bigcirc) and pRF1 (\bigcirc). (B) *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 pRK767 (\bigcirc), pLHR (\bigcirc) and pRF1 (\bigcirc). (C) *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 pRK767 (\bigcirc), pLHR (\bigcirc) and pRF1 (\bigcirc). Data are mean ± standard deviation of three independent experiments. In each panel, means that do not have common superscripts are significantly different. Lines dropping below the x-axis refer to cell counts below the detection limit.

3.3.3 Impact of the tLST and its protein homeostasis module on protein aggregation *in vivo* To obtain insight into the effect of tLST on protein aggregation, the protein aggregates in *E. coli* MG1655 *ibpA-yfp*, *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 *ibpA-yfp* and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 *ibpA-yfp* harbouring pLHR, pRF1 or pRK767 were observed by fluorescence phase contrast microscopy. All the bacteria were collected with the same methods described for the desiccation tolerance tests. Strains of *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 *ibpA-yfp* and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 *ibpA-yfp* harbouring tLST or its protein homeostasis module had lower proportions of individual cells with

protein aggregates when compared to that of strains harbouring pRK767; however, no difference

was detected among the strains of *E. coli* MG1655 *ibpA-yfp* (Fig. 3.2). Results indicated that in *S.* Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* the tLST, and specifically its protein homeostasis module, function to reduce protein aggregate formation, which correlates with bacterial desiccation tolerance, but this effect is not observed in all *Enterobacteriaceae*.



Figure 3.2. Percentage of cells with fluorescent foci representing protein aggregates. (A) *E. coli* MG1655 *ibpA-yfp* harbouring pLHR, pRF1 and pRK767. (B) *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 13311 *ibpA-yfp* harbouring pLHR, pRF1 and pRK767. (C) *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 *ibpA*-yfp harbouring pLHR, pRF1 and pRK767. Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments. In each panel, bars that do not have common superscripts are significantly different.

3.3.4 Effect of protein aggregation on desiccation tolerance

The tLST-encoded ClpKGI, also known as ClpGGI in Pseudomonas aeruginosa, is an ATP-

dependent autonomous disaggregase (C. Lee et al., 2018; C. Lee et al., 2015). ClpK_{GI} is composed of two AAA domains, ATP hydrolysis can be inhibited with two mutations, E383A and E723A, one in each of the ATPase domains, abrogating its protein disaggregation activity in vitro (Katikaridis et al., 2021). In addition, ORF1 expressed from the tLST has only been reported as a transcriptional regulator of sHsp20-ClpK_{GI} but lacks evidence of being directly involved in protein quality control machinery (C. Lee et al., 2015b). Therefore, to further determine the effect of the individual genes comprising the protein homeostasis module in bacterial desiccation tolerance, genes encoding ORF1, sHsp20, ClpK_{GI}-E383A/E723A, sHsp20-ClpK_{GI}, sHsp20-ClpK_{GI}-E383A/E723A and sHsp_{GI} were cloned into pRK767 individually under the control of the native tLST p2 promoter and transformed into S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 to assess their impact on cell survival (Fig. 3.3). Interestingly, the addition of any of these genes reduced desiccation tolerance in S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 when compared to the empty vector pRK767. The survival of strains expressing both of the two sHsps was lower than the strains solely expressing $ClpK_{GI}$. Eliminating the ATP hydrolysis activity in the disaggregase $ClpK_{GI}$ had no significant effect on desiccation tolerance when ClpK_{GI} alone was present on the plasmid, however when present with sHsp20, the mutant ClpK_{GI} had approximately 2 log(cfu/mL) greater survival after 3 days of incubation relative to the wildtype sHsp20-ClpK_{GI} construct. The constructed plasmids were also transformed into S. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 ibpA-yfp to visualize the protein aggregates in vivo by fluorescence phase contrast microscopy. All tLST-gene expressing strains except the one with ORF1 had a lower proportion of cells with protein aggregates when compared to the vector control. No difference was detected between ClpK_{GI} and ClpK_{GI}-E383A/E723A expression strains but the presence of wildtype sHsp20-ClpK_{GI} decreased the number of cells with protein aggregates relative to sHsp20 with the ClpK_{GI} mutant (Fig. 3.4). In summary, the presence

of the disaggregase activity as well as the expression of non-functional proteins increases sensitivity to desiccation which is correlated with the number of cells with protein aggregates.



Time (Day)

Figure 3.3. Influence of the genes of the protein homeostasis module-comprising genes on desiccation survival of *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 after exposure to aw 0.75 at 21°C. The tested *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 strains harbored plasmids including pRK767 (\bigcirc), pRK*p2::orf1* (\bigcirc), pRK*p2::shsp20* (\bigcirc), pRK*p2::clpK_{GI}*(\bigcirc), pRK*p2::clpK_{GI}*-E383A/E723A (\blacktriangle), pRK*p2::shsp20-clpK_{GI}* (\bigcirc), pRK*p2::shsp20-clpK_{GI}* (\bigcirc), pRK*p2::shsp20-clpK_{GI}* (\bigstar) and pRK*p2::shspGI* (\bigcirc). Data are mean ± standard deviation of three independent experiments. Means that do not have common superscripts are significantly different. Lines dropping below the x-axis refer to cell counts below the detection limit.



Figure 3.4. Percentage of the *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 *ibpA-yfp* cells harbouring the genes of the protein homeostasis module-comprising genes with fluorescent foci representing protein aggregates.Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments. Bars that do not have common superscripts are significantly different.

3.3.5 Effect of energy waste on bacterial desiccation tolerance

To test if desiccation sensitivity is solely due to the expression of genes involved in protein homeostasis or if any form of extra resource usage by the cell can have the same effect, we tested several types of resource allocation in *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311. As all the experiments above

were conducted in strains carrying a plasmid, we investigated the effect of DNA replication, transcription and translation on desiccation tolerance through plasmid-based approaches. The pRK767 plasmid with p2 promoter was used to assess the effect of transcription. The enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) under the regulation of the p2 promoter was used to determine the effect of protein production unrelated to protein homeostasis and pUCkan, a pUC19 derivative with both ampicillin and kanamycin resistance cassettes, was used to determine the effect of maintaining high copy plasmids and of growth in different antibiotics. Surprisingly, all strains with the pUC19 plasmids died rapidly relative to those carrying pRK767 derivatives. This was also the case for pUC $p2\Delta$ D::*egfp*, where protein expression was silenced by a promoter mutation (Table 3.5). Strains carrying pRK767 derivatives with the p2 promoter and eGFP died more quickly than pRK767 without any insert (Table 3.5). Results indicated that the energy requirements of high copy plasmids, or of highly expressed proteins are also detrimental to bacterial survival under dry conditions.



Figure 3.5. Influence of the non-tLST gene and high copy number plasmid on desiccation survival of *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 after exposure to aw 0.75 at 21°C. All the strains were harvested from agar plate surface, washed, resuspended with 0.1% peptone water, air-dried for 5 hours and stored in air-tight containers for up to 21 days. The tested *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 strains harboured plasmids including pRK767 (\bigcirc), pRK*p2* (\bigcirc), pRK*p2*::*egfp* (\bigcirc), pUC*kan* harvested from kanamycin plate (\triangle), pUC*kan* harvested from ampicilin plate (\triangle), pUC*p2*::*egfp* (\triangle), pUC*p2* \triangle D::*egfp* (\triangle) and pUC19 (\triangle). Data are mean ± standard deviation of three independent experiments. Means that do not have common superscripts are significantly different. Lines dropping below the x-axis refer to cell counts below the detection limit.

3.3.6 Bacterial survival in PIF

The survival of *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 harbouring pLHR, pRF1 or pRK767 was also determined in PIF. Consistent with the results obtained in 0.1% peptone

water, the desiccation tolerance of *S*. Typhimurium decreased significantly in the presence of tLST or the protein homeostasis module compared to that of strains carrying the vector control (Fig. 3.6A). The reduction of cell counts was also observed in *C. sakazakii* pLHR and pRF1 compared to pRK767, but to a lesser extend (Fig. 3.6B). Taken together, the tLST and its protein homeostasis module also increased bacterial sensitivity to desiccation in a relevant food matrix.



Figure 3.6. Influence of the tLST or protein homeostasis module on desiccation survival of *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 and *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 in infant formula after storage at a_W 0.33 and 21°C. (A) *S*. Typhimurium ATCC 13311 pRK767 (white), pLHR (black) and pRF1 (red). (B) *C. sakazakii* FUA 10122 pRK767 (white), pLHR (black) and pRF1 (red). Data are mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments. In each panel, means that do not have common superscripts are significantly different.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 The impact of protein aggregate on bacterial desiccation tolerance

The presence of the tLST, specifically its protein homeostasis module, negatively affected bacterial desiccation tolerance in *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* under laboratory conditions.
The use of a ClpK derivative with two amino acid substitutions that abrogate disaggregase activity but not the energy expenditure associated with protein expression allowed differentiation of the impact of protein homeostasis and energy expenditure on bacterial survival. Bacterial survival in the dry state is influenced by protein aggregates and the presence of energy intensive elements. Protein aggregation is a prominent marker of cell aging. Protein aggregates are not segregated evenly into the progeny, but mother cells allocate the aggregates to the old pole in cell division; this segregation contributes to perpetuate the population (Lindner et al., 2008). The aggregates eventually accumulate within a small proportion of the cells which have slow metabolic and proliferation rates (Lindner et al., 2008). This genetically identical subpopulation has been identified as dormant cells that possess higher levels of tolerance to adverse circumstances and contribute to maintenance of the bacterial population (Pu et al., 2019). The phenomenon of genetically identical but phenotypically different populations was first described in 1944 by Joseph Bigger, who observed that a subpopulation of staphylococci was resistant to the effects of penicillin. The subpopulation was proposed as dormant non-dividing cells and termed "persisters" (Bigger, 1944). Although the concept of persister cells has only been applied in reference to antibiotic stress, our study warrants an expanded definition where the term persister is used to refer to dormant cells that have increased tolerance to other stressors, in this case the stress of desiccated environments. The viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state is also recognized as another type of cell dormancy. VBNC cells lost their cultivability on standard medium although they remain metabolically active and carry out respiration (Del et al., 2000). It has been hypothesized that persisters and VBNC cells reside in a continuum of cell dormancy state, from shallow to deep (Ayrapetyan et al., 2015, 2018; Bollen et al., 2021; Pu et al., 2019). It is possible that the disaggregase reduced the proportion of VNBC cells and the difference between the constructs with

disaggregase and without is greater than reported (Pu et al., 2019).

In strains of *Salmonella*, the tLST only presents in a few strains and the genomic island is differentially distributed in pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains of *E. coli* (Z. Wang et al., 2020b). Our *in silico* analysis of *C. sakazakii* revealed that the tLST is rare in isolates from dried sources relative to environmental sources or facilities that produce PIF. This suggests that either the PIF production process or survival during storage of PIF selects against strains of *C. sakazakii* harboring the tLST. The tLST encodes for a protein quality control machinery that reduced protein aggregates in *E. coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Kamal et al., 2019; C. Lee et al., 2018; C. Lee et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2020). We therefore hypothesized that the protein aggregate-carrying persister cells survive better in desiccated environments. This hypothesis was tested using the tLST as a tool to reduce protein aggregates. Interestingly, a high frequency of the tLST was found in strains of *C. sakazakii* isolated from humans, in fact it was the highest frequency observed for any environment, suggesting that the benefits of the tLST, such as heat resistance, outweigh its detrimental effect in *C. sakazakii* in a hospital environment.

The tLST was identified as a plasmid-encoded or chromosomal genomic island flanked by transmissible elements (Kamal et al., 2021). To determine whether the increased desiccation sensitivity of strains of *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* that possess the tLST is attributed to the function of the tLST protein homeostasis module, the effect of the two small heat shock proteins, sHsp20 and sHsp_{GI}, and the disaggregase, ClpK_{GI}, on a low-copy number plasmid, pRK767 was examined (Gill & Warren, 1988; Kamal et al., 2021; Li et al., 2020; Mercer et al., 2017). sHsps co-aggregate with and sequester denatured proteins in an ATP-dependent manner, which keeps the proteins in a reversible state and facilitates efficient refolding or degradation by other chaperones (Ungelenk et al., 2016; Webster et al., 2019b). Disaggregases disaggregate insoluble protein

aggregates, allowing the proteins to be refolded into their functional form (Mogk et al., 2018; Mogk & Bukau, 2004). The disaggregase ClpB acts in collaboration with DnaK (Hsp70) to dissolve and clear cellular protein aggregates (Pu et al., 2019). In *P. aeruginosa* the ATPdependent autonomous disaggregase ClpK_{GI} functionally complements the DnaK-ClpB bichaperone complex (Katikaridis et al., 2021; Rosenzweig et al., 2013). The sHsps in the tLST impacted *Salmonella* survival more substantially than ClpK_{GI} under dry conditions and eliminating the disaggregase activity of ClpK_{GI} had no effect on sensitivity to desiccation. When both sHsp20 and ClpK_{GI} were expressed together, the inactivation of the disaggregase resulted in as much as a 2 log(cfu/mL) difference in sensitivity to desiccation. Furthermore, fluorescent microscopy revealed that both sHsp20 and ClpK_{GI} are able to reduce the number of cellular protein aggregates. However, only with the presence of sHsp20 can differences among a proportion of cells carrying protein aggregates be detected when the ClpK_{GI} disaggregase activity is abolished. This suggested that sHsp20 and ClpK_{GI} function independently and may have a synergistic effect in the same bacterial regulation network.

The tLST had a comparable effect on *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* in PIF. The contamination of PIF with *Salmonella* and *C. sakazakii* has contributed to the burden of foodborne illness among infants (Koseki et al., 2015). Food matrices can affect the survival of desiccated bacteria, so it is crucial to reproduce, as closely as possible, the conditions that allow survival of the pathogen e.g., PIF (Dhaliwal et al., 2021; Doyle & Mazzotta, 2000; Finn et al., 2013a). The tLST reduced survival of both *Salmonella* and *Cronobacter* in PIF, affirming the BLAST analysis that showed that isolates from PIF sources are less likely to harbor the tLST than the facilities that produce PIF. *Salmonella* and *C. sakazakii* are well known for their outstanding ability to survive in low aw environments. To date, desiccation survival of *Salmonella* and *C. sakazakii* was attributed to their

ability to form biofilms and to the synthesis or transport of compatible solutes (Du et al., 2018; Finn et al., 2013a). In this study, we correlated desiccation tolerance with the amount of naturally existing cellular protein aggregates in *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii*. Our study additionally revealed that the cellular protein aggregates also positively aid in this phenotype.

E. coli have generally been considered as less desiccation tolerant when compared to *S.* Typhimurium but Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* (STEC) have also been associated with outbreaks of foodborne illness linked to dry foods (Deng et al., 1998; Hiramatsu et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2012; Ryu et al., 1999) The tLST only presents in a few strains in genomes of STEC (*Z.* Wang et al., 2020b) and *E. coli* utilizes protein aggregates for antibiotic stress tolerance (Pu et al., 2019). This may suggest that strains of *E. coli* use protein aggregates as a strategy for desiccation tolerance. Although tLST encoded proteins function similarly in *E. coli, Salmonella* and *Cronobacter* (Gajdosova et al., 2011; Mercer et al., 2015; Mercer, Walker, et al., 2017), the tLST did not reduce the number of proteins aggregates in *E. coli* cultures harvested from TSA, and expression of the tLST in strains of *E. coli* did not alter survival after desiccation. This suggests that the stress response of *Salmonella, Cronobacter* and *E. coli* prioritizes tolerance to different stressors, and that the interplay of accessory genes that complement the protein quality control machinery of the core genome with other aspects of the stress response differs among these species.

3.4.2 The impact of resources allocation on bacterial desiccation tolerance

The expression of ORF1 reduced desiccation tolerance despite the fact it is not a part of the protein quality control machinery, and it had no effect on reducing the cellular protein aggregates. This suggests other mechanisms for the reduced desiccation tolerance in presence of the tLST. All of the constructs used in the experiments were under the control of the native tLST p2 promoter which constitutively expressed the downstream genes independent of the growth conditions (Mercer et

al., 2015; Mercer et al., 2017). In E. coli, the LST-encoded proteins are highly expressed (Li et al., 2020) and the substantial energy burden imposed by protein synthesis may affect bacterial fitness (Li et al., 2020; Z. Wang et al., 2021). Production of mRNA or protein under the p2 promoter or the maintenance of high-copy pUC19 plasmids increased desiccation sensitivity, demonstrating that energy waste also negatively affects bacterial survival in desiccated environments. The high copy pUC19 plasmids had a much greater effect on desiccation survival compared to the low copy pRK767 plasmids. To confirm whether this was due to the maintenance of the plasmid or due to the stress of growth in ampicillin instead of tetracycline, *Salmonella* containing a pUC19 plasmid with both ampicillin and kanamycin was grown with either ampicillin or kanamycin. Both tetracycline and kanamycin target the ribosome, which may affect protein aggregation, but ampicillin targets peptidoglycan so likely has no effect on the protein homeostasis state (Wilson et al., 2020). The same levels of desiccation sensitivity were detected regardless of the applied antibiotics, excluding the impact of antibiotics under the conditions tested. The effect of maintaining the high copy plasmids obscured any effects from the elements inserted into those plasmids. This result contrasted with the results comparing the p2 promoter and egfp in the low copy pRK767 and its empty vector control where there was approximately a 3 log difference after 3 d of storage. The desiccation sensitivity of tLST-carrying strains of S. Typhimurium and C. sakazakii is thus attributable to a combination of reduced protein aggregates and increased energy use.

3.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this study provide new insights into the underlying mechanisms of bacterial desiccation tolerance. The survival strategies of *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* under desiccation include cell filamentation, the synthesis and accumulation of osmoprotectant

63

molecular and iron metabolism (Finn et al., 2013b; C. Yu et al., 2021). Our study correlated the ability of *S*. Typhimurium and *C. sakazakii* to survive in low a_w environments with their formation of protein aggregates and energy conservation. This phenomenon was reproducible in PIF, which emphasized the practical implications of this research. Further experiments can be conducted to directly investigate the relationship between desiccation tolerance and bacterial persister cells.

Chapter 4. Conclusion and general discussion

In conclusion, maintaining protein homeostasis contributes differently to bacterial stress tolerance. The tLST confers bacterial host with tolerance phenotypes towards elevated temperature, chlorine, oxidative chemicals and high hydrostatic pressure (C. Lee et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020; Mercer, Nguyen, et al., 2017; Z. Wang et al., 2020a). The protective effect of the tLST was largely attributed to its small heat shock proteins and disaggregase, which prevent the formation of protein aggregates, improve protein homeostasis and therefore aid in bacterial survival under stress (Li et al., 2020; Z. Wang et al., 2020a). However, maintenance of the tLST imposes a fitness cost to the bacterial host, which needs to be compensated with the frequently present lethal levels of selective pressure (Z. Wang et al., 2020a). The tLST also confers tolerance to E. coli to extreme alkaline pH but requires simultaneous chlorine stress as an activation signal. Instead of relying on the tLSTencoded protein quality control machinery, this phenotype attributes to the function of the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter KefB_{GI} which maintains membrane potential through acidification of the cytoplasm. The presence of tLST, specifically its protein homeostasis module, negatively impacts desiccation tolerance of S. Typhimurium and C. sakazakii. The additional protein quality control machinery enhances protein homeostasis by resolving the protein aggregates but also imposes additional fitness cost to the bacterial host which has been shown as detrimental to the host survival under desiccation. The tLST is postulated to originate from extreme habitats and it is widely spread among diverse members of beta- and gamma-Proteobacteria via horizontal transmission (Kamal et al., 2021). The maintenance of the tLST is promoted in human-made ecological niches including food processing facilities, wastewater treatment plants and nosocomial settings where its bacterial hosts need to withstand the lethal effects of frequent occurred high temperature, chlorine and oxidizing chemicals (Kamal et al., 2021; Z. Wang et al., 2020b, 2021). The tLST has been observed

at low frequency in the isolates from the dry sources or the bacterial species whose lifestyle largely depends on the desiccation. Thus, whether the presence of tLST benefits the bacterial host depends on the type, severity and frequency of the encountered stresses relative to the fitness cost of maintaining the tLST, which determines the prevalence and distribution of tLST in the different ecological niches.

Functional protein is the foundation for performing proper cellular activities, therefore protein quality control is essential to bacterial physiology. Perturbations in protein homeostasis can result in the generation of protein aggregates, which has been recognized as a hallmark of cellular aging, preventing bacterial proliferation. The powerful protein quality control machinery should be favored by evolution, but my research revealed that protein aggregates may also be an evolved strategy for bacterial stress adaptation. Further proteomic analysis of the bacterial aggregates is a selectable trait through active processes and if there are genetic determinants present.

Taken together, this study improves the understanding of how protein homeostasis affects bacterial stress tolerance. Instead of being parts of the accessory genome protecting its host against multiple stresses, tLST can be a suitable tool to probe the role of protein aggregation in bacterial stress tolerance. Further studies may expand its application to investigate bacterial ecology and develop strategies to improve the microbial safety in food production under current industrial practice.

References

- Aakre, C. D., Phung, T. N., Huang, D., & Laub, M. T. (2013). A bacterial toxin inhibits DNA replication elongation through a direct interaction with the β sliding clamp. *Molecular Cell*, 52(5), 617–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.10.014
- Agashe, V. R., Guha, S., Chang, H.-C., Genevaux, P., Hayer-Hartl, M., Stemp, M., Georgopoulos, C., Hartl, F. U., & Barral, J. M. (2004). Function of trigger factor and DnaK in multidomain protein folding: Increase in yield at the expense of folding speed. *Cell*, *117*, 199–209. http://www.cell.com/cgi/content/full/117/2/199/DC1
- Alam, A., Bröms, J. E., Kumar, R., & Sjöstedt, A. (2021). The role of ClpB in bacterial stress responses and virulence. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.668910
- Almagro Armenteros, J. J., Tsirigos, K. D., Sønderby, C. K., Petersen, T. N., Winther, O., Brunak, S., von Heijne, G., & Nielsen, H. (2019). SignalP 5.0 improves signal peptide predictions using deep neural networks. *Nature Biotechnology*, *37*(4), 420–423. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0036-z
- Amezaga, M.-R., & Booth, I. R. (1999). Osmoprotection of *Escherichia coli* by peptone is mediated by the uptake and accumulation of free proline but not of proline-containing peptides. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(12), 5272–5278.
- Ayrapetyan, M., Williams, T. C., & Oliver, J. D. (2015). Bridging the gap between viable but non-culturable and antibiotic persistent bacteria. In *Trends in Microbiology* (Vol. 23, Issue 1, pp. 7–13). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2014.09.004

- Ayrapetyan, M., Williams, T., & Oliver, J. D. (2018). Relationship between the viable but nonculturable state and antibiotic persister cells. In *Journal of Bacteriology* (Vol. 200, Issue 20). American Society for Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00249-18
- Baba, T., Ara, T., Hasegawa, M., Takai, Y., Okumura, Y., Baba, M., Datsenko, K. A., Tomita, M., Wanner, B. L., & Mori, H. (2006). Construction of *Escherichia coli* K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/msb4100050
- Baker, C. A., Rubinelli, P. M., Park, S. H., Carbonero, F., & Ricke, S. C. (2016). Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* in food: incidence, ecology, and detection strategies. *Food Control*, 59, 407–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.06.011
- Bakthisaran, R., Tangirala, R., & Rao, C. M. (2015). Small heat shock proteins: Role in cellular functions and pathology. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Proteins and Proteomics*, 1854(4), 291–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2014.12.019
- Barnett, M. E., Zolkiewska, A., & Zolkiewski, M. (2000). Structure and activity of ClpB from *Escherichia coli*: Role of the amino-and carboxy-terminal domains. *J Biol Chem*, 48, 37565–37571.
- Beuchat, L., Komitopoulou, E., Beckers, H., Betts, R., Bourdichon, F., Fanning, S., Joosten, H., & ter Kuile, B. (2013). Low–water activity foods: increased concern as vehicles of foodborne pathogens. *Journal of Food Protection*, *76*, 150–172. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-12-211
- Bhat, K. G., & Alex, K. (1998). Acid resistance in enteric bacteria. *The National Medical Journal of India*, *11*(3), 151–152.

- Bigger, J. W. (1944). Treatment of staphylococcal infections with penicillin by intermittent sterilisation. *Lancet*, *244*(6320), 497–500.
- Boll, E. J., Marti, R., Hasman, H., Overballe-Petersen, S., Stegger, M., Ng, K., Knøchel, S., Krogfelt, K. A., Hummerjohann, J., & Struve, C. (2017). Turn up the heat - food and clinical *Escherichia coli* isolates feature two transferrable loci of heat resistance. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *8*, 579. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00579
- Bollen, C., Dewachter, L., & Michiels, J. (2021). Protein aggregation as a bacterial strategy to survive antibiotic treatment. In *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences* (Vol. 8). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.669664
- Brauner, A., Fridman, O., Gefen, O., & Balaban, N. Q. (2016). Distinguishing between resistance, tolerance and persistence to antibiotic treatment. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *14*(5), 320–330. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.34
- Burgess, C. M., Gianotti, A., Gruzdev, N., Holah, J., Knøchel, S., Lehner, A., Margas, E., Esser,
 S. S., Sela Saldinger, S., & Tresse, O. (2016). The response of foodborne pathogens to osmotic and desiccation stresses in the food chain. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 221, 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.12.014
- Cahill, S. M., Wachsmuth, I. K., Costarrica, M. D. L., & ben Embarek, P. K. (2008). Powdered infant formula as a source of *Salmonella* infection in infants. In *Clinical Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 46, Issue 2, pp. 268–273). https://doi.org/10.1086/524737
- Calloni, G., Chen, T., Schermann, S. M., Chang, H. C., Genevaux, P., Agostini, F., Tartaglia, G.
 G., Hayer-Hartl, M., & Hartl, F. U. (2012). DnaK functions as a central hub in the *E. coli* chaperone network. *Cell Reports*, 1(3), 251–264.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2011.12.007

- Camacho, C., Coulouris, G., Avagyan, V., Ma, N., Papadopoulos, J., Bealer, K., & Madden, T.
 L. (2009). BLAST+: architecture and applications. *BMC Bioinformatics*, *10*, 421.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-10-421
- Castanié-Cornet, M. P., Bruel, N., & Genevaux, P. (2014). Chaperone networking facilitates protein targeting to the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Molecular Cell Research*, *1843*(8), 1442–1456.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.11.007

- Castanie-Cornet, M. P., Penfound, T. A., Smith, D., Elliott, J. F., & Foster, J. W. (1999). Control of acid resistance in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *181*(11), 3525–3535. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.181.11.3525-3535.1999
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (1998). Multistate outbreak of Salmonella serotype Agona infections linked to toasted oats cereal--United States, April-May, 1998.
 MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 47(22), 462–464.
 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9639368/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2004). Outbreak of *Salmonella* serotype Enteritidis infections associated with raw almonds-United States and Canada, 2003-2004. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 53(22), 484–487. www.almondboard.com/docs/current_almanac.pdf.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2009). Multistate outbreak of *Salmonella* infections associated with peanut butter and peanut butter-containing products--United States, 2008-2009. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *58*(4), 85–90. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19194370/

- Cesar, S., Willis, L., & Huang, K. C. (2022). Bacterial respiration during stationary phase induces intracellular damage that leads to delayed regrowth. *IScience*, 25(3), 103765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.103765
- Chapman, E., Farr, G. W., Usaite, R., Furtak, K., Fenton, W. A., Chaudhuri, T. K., Hondorp, E. R., Matthews, R. G., Wolf, S. G., Yates, J. R., Pypaert, M., & Horwich, A. L. (2006).
 Global aggregation of newly translated proteins in an *Escherichia coli* strain deficient of the chaperonin GroEL. *PNAS*, *103*, 15800–15805.
 www.pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.0607534103
- Cherepanov, P. P., & Wackernagel, W. (1995). Gene disruption in *Escherichia coli*: TcR and KmR cassettes with the option of Flp-catalyzed excision of the antibiotic-resistance determinant. *Gene*, *158*(1), 9–14.
- Chesney, J. A., Eaton, J. W., & Mahoney, J. R. (1996). Bacterial glutathione: a sacrificial defense against chlorine compounds. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *178*(7), 2131–2135. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.7.2131-2135.1996
- Choi, J. S., Kim, W., Suk, S., Park, H., Bak, G., Yoon, J., & Lee, Y. (2018). The small RNA,
 SdsR, acts as a novel type of toxin in *Escherichia coli*. *RNA Biology*, *15*(10), 1319–1335.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15476286.2018.1532252
- Chowdhury, N., Kwan, B. W., & Wood, T. K. (2016). Persistence increases in the absence of the alarmone guanosine tetraphosphate by reducing cell growth. *Scientific Reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20519
- Chuang, Y. M., Bandyopadhyay, N., Rifat, D., Rubin, H., Bader, J. S., & Karakousis, P. C. (2015). Deficiency of the novel exopolyphosphatase Rv1026/PPX2 leads to metabolic

downshift and altered cell wall permeability in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *MBio*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02428-14

- Clark, V. E., Erson-Omay, E. Z., Serin, A., Yin, J., Cotney, J., Özduman, K., Avşar, T., Li, J.,
 Murray, P. B., Henegariu, O., Yilmaz, S., Günel, J. M., Carrión-Grant, G., Yilmaz, B.,
 Grady, C., Tanrikulu, B., Bakircioğlu, M., Kaymakçalan, H., Caglayan, A. O., ... Günel, M.
 (2013). Unraveling the mechanismof protein disaggregation through ClpB-DnaK
 interaction. *Science*, *339*(6123), 1077–1080. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1233009
- Clarke, E. J., & Voigt, C. A. (2011). Characterization of combinatorial patterns generated by multiple two-component sensors in *E. coli* that respond to many stimuli. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 108(3), 666–675. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22966
- Croxen, M. A., Law, R. J., Scholz, R., Keeney, K. M., Wlodarska, M., & Finlay, B. B. (2013).
 Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *26*(4), 822–880. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00022-13
- Dahl, J. U., Koldewey, P., Salmon, L., Horowitz, S., Bardwell, J. C. A., & Jakob, U. (2015).
 HdeB functions as an acid-protective chaperone in bacteria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(1), 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.612986
- Danese, P. N., & Silhavy, T. J. (1998). CpxP, a stress-combative member of the Cpx regulon. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *180*(4), 831–839. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.180.4.831-839.1998
- Dartigalongue, C., & Raina, S. (1998). A new heat-shock gene, *ppiD*, encodes a peptidyl-prolyl isomerase required for folding of outer membrane proteins in *Escherichia coli*. *EMBO Journal*, *17*(14), 3968–3980. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.14.3968

- Datsenko, K. A., & Wanner, B. L. (2000). One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli K-12 using PCR products. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 97(12), 6640–6645.
- Datta, S., Costantino, N., & Court, D. L. (2006). A set of recombineering plasmids for gramnegative bacteria. *Gene*, *379*, 109–115.
- David, B., Manajit, H.-H., & Ulrich, H. F. (2016). In vivo aspects of protein folding and quality control. *Science*, *353*(6294), aac4354. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac4354
- De Biase, D., & Lund, P. A. (2015). The *Escherichia coli* acid stress response and its significance for pathogenesis. In *Advances in Applied Microbiology* (Vol. 92). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aambs.2015.03.002
- De Wulf, P., Kwon, O., & Lin, E. C. C. (1999). The CpxRA signal transduction system of *Escherichia coli*: growth-related autoactivation and control of unanticipated target operons. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *181*(21), 6772–6778. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.181.21.6772-6778.1999
- Del, M., Lleo', L., Pierobon, S., Tafi, M. C., Signoretto, C., & Canepari, P. (2000). mRNA
 Detection by reverse transcription-PCR for monitoring viability over time in an
 Enterococcus faecalis viable but nonculturable population maintained in a laboratory
 microcosm. In *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* (Vol. 66, Issue 10).
 https://journals.asm.org/journal/aem
- Deng, Y., Ryu, J.-H., & Beuchat, L. R. (1998). Influence of temperature and pH on survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in dry foods and growth in reconstituted infant rice cereal. In *International Journal of Food Microbiology* (Vol. 45).

- Dewachter, L., Bollen, C., Wilmaerts, D., Louwagie, E., Herpels, P., Matthay, P., Khodaparast, L., Khodaparast, L., Rousseau, F., Schymkowitz, J., & Michiels, J. (2021). The dynamic transition of persistence toward the viable but nonculturable state during stationary phase is driven by protein aggregation. *MBio*, *12*(4), 00703–00721. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio
- Dhaliwal, H. K., Gänzle, M., & Roopesh, M. S. (2021). Influence of drying conditions, food composition, and water activity on the thermal resistance of *Salmonella enterica*. *Food Research International*, 147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110548
- Dill, K. A., Ozkan, S. B., Scott Shell, M., & Weikl, T. R. (2008). The protein folding problem. *Annual Review of Biophysics*, *37*, 289–316.
- Dilworth, M. J., & Glenn, A. R. (1999). Problems of adverse pH and bacterial strategies to combat it. Wiley.
- Doyle, M. E., & Mazzotta, A. S. (2000). Review of studies on the thermal resistance of Salmonellae. *Journal of Food Protection*, 63(6), 779–795. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-63.6.779
- Drudy, D., Mullane, N. R., Quinn, T., Wall, P. G., & Fanning, S. (2006). *Enterobacter sakazakii*:
 An emerging pathogen in powdered infant formula. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 42(7),
 996–1002. https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/42/7/996/324164
- Du, X. J., Wang, X. Y., Dong, X., Li, P., & Wang, S. (2018). Characterization of the desiccation tolerance of *Cronobacter sakazakii* strains. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9(NOV). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02867
- Dukan, S., & Touati, D. (1996). Hypochlorous acid stress in *Escherichia coli*: resistance, DNA damage, and comparison with hydrogen peroxide stress. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *178*(21), 6145–6150. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.21.6145-6150.1996

- Durfee, T., Hansen, A. M., Zhi, H., Blattner, F. R., & Ding, J. J. (2008). Transcription profiling of the stringent response in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *190*(3), 1084–1096. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01092-07
- Eaton, K. (2020). NCBImeta: efficient and comprehensive metadata retrieval from NCBI databases. *The Journal of Open Source Software*, 5, 1990. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01990
- Elmore, M. J., Lamb, A. J., Ritchie, G. Y., Douglas, R. M., Munro, A., Gajewska, A., & Booth,
 I. R. (1990). Activation potassium efflux from *Escherichia coli* by glutathione metabolites. *Molecular Microbiology*, 4(3), 405–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1990.tb00607.x
- Enomoto, K., & Koyama, N. (1999). Effect of growth pH on the phospholipid contents of the membranes from alkaliphilic bacteria. *Current Microbiology*, *39*(5), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002849900458
- Ezraty, B., Gennaris, A., Barras, F., & Collet, J. F. (2017). Oxidative stress, protein damage and repair in bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 15(7), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.26
- Fang, Y., Mercer, R. G. R. G., McMullen, L. M. L. M., & Gänzle, M. G. M. G. (2017). Induction of Shiga toxin encoding prophage by abiotic environmental stress in food. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 83(19), e01378-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01378-17
- Fayet, O., Ziegelhoffer, T., Georgopoulos, C., Bukau, B., Donnelly, C. E., Walker, G. C., L Pardue, in M., Feramisco, J., & Lindquist, S. (1989). The *groES* and *groEL* heat shock gene products of *Escherichia coli* are essential for bacterial growth at all temperatures. *JOURNAL OF BACTERIOLOGY*, 171(3), 1379–1385. https://journals.asm.org/journal/jb

- Ferguson, G. P., & Booth, I. R. (1998). Importance of glutathione for growth and survival of *Escherichia coli* cells: detoxification of methylglyoxal and maintenance of intracellular K+. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *180*(16), 4314–4318. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.180.16.4314-4318.1998
- Ferguson, G. P., McLaggan, D., & Booth, I. R. (1995). Potassium channel activation by glutathione-S-conjugates in *Escherichia coli*: protection against methylglyoxal is mediated by cytoplasmic acidification. *Molecular Microbiology*, *17*(6), 1025–1033. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1995.mmi_17061025.x
- Ferguson, G. P., Munro, A. W., Douglas, R. M., McLaggan, D., & Booth, I. R. (1993). Activation of potassium channels during metabolite detoxification in Escherichia coli. *Molecular Microbiology*, 9(6), 1297–1303.
- Fineran, P. C., Blower, T. R., Foulds, I. J., Humphreys, D. P., Lilley, K. S., & Salmond, G. P. C. (2009). The phage abortive infection system, ToxIN, functions as a protein-RNA toxinantitoxin pair. *PNAS*, 106, 894–899. www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/
- Finn, S., Condell, O., McClure, P., Amézquita, A., & Fanning, S. (2013a). Mechanisms of survival, responses, and sources of *Salmonella* in low-moisture environments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4, 331. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00331
- Finn, S., Condell, O., McClure, P., Amézquita, A., & Fanning, S. (2013b). Mechanisms of survival, responses, and sources of *Salmonella* in low-moisture environments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4(NOV). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00331
- Fujiwara, K., & Taguchi, H. (2007). Filamentous morphology in GroE-depleted *Escherichia coli* induced by impaired folding of FtsE. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *189*(16), 5860–5866. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00493-07

- Gaca, A. O., Colomer-Winter, C., & Lemos, J. A. (2015). Many means to a common end: The intricacies of (p)ppGpp metabolism and its control of bacterial homeostasis. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 197(7), 1146–1156. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.02577-14
- Gajdosova, J., Benedikovicova, K., Kamodyova, N., Tothova, L., Kaclikova, E., Stuchlik, S.,
 Turna, J., & Drahovska, H. (2011). Analysis of the DNA region mediating increased
 thermotolerance at 58 °C in *Cronobacter* sp. and other enterobacterial strains. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 100(2), 279–289.
- Garmiri, P., Coles, K. E., Humphrey, T. J., & Cogan, T. A. (2008). Role of outer membrane lipopolysaccharides in the protection of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium from desiccation damage. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 281(2), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01093.x
- Gerdes, K., & Rasmussen, P. B. (1986). Unique type of plasmid maintenance function: Postsegregational killing of plasmid-free cells. *Biochemistry*, *83*, 3116–3120.
- Gibson, D. L., White, A. P., Snyder, S. D., Martin, S., Heiss, C., Azadi, P., Surette, M., & Kay,
 W. W. (2006). *Salmonella* produces an O-antigen capsule regulated by AgfD and important for environmental persistence. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *188*(22), 7722–7730.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00809-06
- Gill, P. R., & Warren, G. J. (1988). An iron-antagonized fungistatic agent that is not required for iron assimilation from a fluorescent rhizosphere pseudomonad. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *170*(1), 163–170. https://journals.asm.org/journal/jb
- Gordienko, E. N., Kazanov, M. D., & Gelfand, M. S. (2013). Evolution of pan-genomes of *Escherichia coli*, *Shigella* spp., and *Salmonella enterica*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *195*(12), 2786–2792. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.02285-12

- Govers, S. K., & Aertsen, A. (2015). Impact of high hydrostatic pressure processing on individual cellular resuscitation times and protein aggregates in *Escherichia coli*. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *213*, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.04.039
- Govers, S. K., Mortier, J., Adam, A., & Aertsen, A. (2018). Protein aggregates encode epigenetic memory of stressful encounters in individual Escherichia coli cells. *PLOS Biology*, 16(8), e2003853. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2003853
- Gur, E., & Sauer, R. T. (2008). Recognition of misfolded proteins by Lon, a AAA+ protease. *Genes and Development*, 22(16), 2267–2277. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1670908
- Hartl, F. U., & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2009). Converging concepts of protein folding *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *16*(6), 574–581.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1591
- Harwood, D. T., Kettle, A. J., & Winterbourn, C. C. (2006). Production of glutathione sulfonamide and dehydroglutathione from GSH by myeloperoxidase-derived oxidants and detection using a novel LC-MS/MS method. *Biochemical Journal*, 399(1), 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20060978
- Haslbeck, M. (2016). Small heat shock proteins in bacteria. In F. J. de Bruijn (Ed.), *Stress and Environmental Regulation of Gene Expression and Adaptation in Bacteria* (First Edit, Vol. 2). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119004813.ch71
- Haslbeck, M., & Vierling, E. (2015). A first line of stress defense: Small heat shock proteins and their function in protein homeostasis. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 427(7), 1537–1548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2015.02.002

- Henry, M., & Fouladkhah, A. (2019). Outbreak history, biofilm formation, and preventive measures for control of *Cronobacter sakazakii* in infant formula and infant care settings. *Microorganisms*, 7(3), 77. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7030077
- Hicks, D. B., Liu, J., Fujisawa, M., & Krulwich, T. A. (2010). F1F0-ATP synthases of alkaliphilic bacteria: lessons from their adaptations. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Bioenergetics*, 1797(8), 1362–1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.02.028
- Hiramatsu, R., Matsumoto, M., Sakae, K., & Miyazaki, Y. (2005). Ability of Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella spp*. to survive in a desiccation model system and in dry foods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(11), 6657–6663. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.11.6657
- Hoang, T. T., Karkhoff-Schweizer, R. R., Kutchma, A. J., & Schweizer, H. P. (1998). A broadhost-range Flp-*FRT* recombination system for site-specific excision of chromosomallylocated DNA sequences: application for isolation of unmarked *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mutants. *Gene*, 212, 77–86.
- Hunte, C., Screpanti, E., Venturi, M., Rimon, A., Padan, E., & Michel, H. (2005). Structure of a Na+/H+ antiporter and insights into mechanism of action and regulation by pH. *Nature*, *435*(7046), 1197–1202. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03692
- Hurst, J. K., Barrette, W. C., Michel, B. R., & Rosen, H. (1991). Hypochlorous acid and myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation of iron-slfur clusters in bacterial respiratory dehydrogenases. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 202(3), 1275–1282. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1991.tb16500.x

- Id, C. L., Lin, C., Chiang, J., Lin, C., Tay, Y., Fan, L., Peng, K., Lin, C., & Id, H. P. (2019).
 RcsB regulation of the YfdX-mediated acid stress response in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *PLoS One*, *14*(2), e0212909. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212909
- Illigmann, A., Thoma, Y., Pan, S., Reinhardt, L., & Brötz-Oesterhelt, H. (2021). Contribution of the Clp protease to bacterial survival and mitochondrial homoeostasis. *Microbial Physiology*, 31(3), 260–279. https://doi.org/10.1159/000517718
- Iyer, R., Williams, C., & Miller, C. (2003). Arginine-agmatine antiporter in extreme acid resistance in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *185*(22), 6556–6561. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.22.6556-6561.2003
- Jernberg C, Hjertqvist M, Sundborger C, Castro E, Lofdahl M, Pääjärvi A, Sundqvist L, & Löf E. (2015). Outbreak of *Salmonella* Enteritidis phage type 13a infection in Sweden linked to imported dried-vegetable spice mixes, December 2014 to July 2015. *Euro Surveill*, 20(30), 21194–21199. www.eurosurveillance.org
- Jianming, D., Shiro, L., Hoi-Shan, K., Zhe, L., & Lin, E. C. C. (1993). The deduced amino-acid sequence of the cloned *cpxR* gene suggests the protein is the cognate regulator for the membrane sensor, CpxA, in a two-component signal transduction system of *Escherichia coli. Gene*, *136*(1–2), 227–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(93)90469-J
- Jimmy, S., Kumar Saha, C., Kurata, T., Stavropoulos, C., Raquel Alves Oliveira, S., Koh, A., Cepauskas, A., Takada, H., Rejman, D., Tenson, T., Strahl, H., Garcia-Pino, A., Hauryliuk, V., & Atkinson, G. C. (2020). A widespread toxin–antitoxin system exploiting growth control via alarmone signaling. *PNAS*, *117*(19), 10500–10510. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1916617117/-/DCSupplemental

- Johansen, T. B., Brandal, L. T., MacDonald, E., Naseer, U., Stefanoff, P., Røed, M. H., Berglund, T. M., Johannessen, G. S., Bergsjø, B., Vold, L., & Lange, H. (2021). Exotic dried fruits caused *Salmonella* Agbeni outbreak with severe clinical presentation, Norway, December 2018 to March 2019. *Eurosurveillance*, *26*(14). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.14.2000221
- Johnson, J. R., & Russo, T. A. (2002). Extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli*: "the other bad *E. coli*." *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, 139(3), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1067/mlc.2002.121550
- Jurėnas, D., Fraikin, N., Goormaghtigh, F., & van Melderen, L. (2022). Biology and evolution of bacterial toxin–antitoxin systems. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00661-1
- Kamal, S. M., Rybtke, M. L., Nimtz, M., Sperlein, S., Giske, C., Trček, J., Deschamps, J.,
 Briandet, R., Dini, L., Jänsch, L., Tolker-Nielsen, T., Lee, C., & Römling, U. (2019). Two
 FtsH proteases contribute to fitness and adaptation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Clone C strains. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *10*(JULY), 1372.
- Kamal, S. M., Simpson, D. J., Wang, Z., Gänzle, M., & Römling, U. (2021). Horizontal transmission of stress resistance genes shape the ecology of beta- and gamma-Proteobacteria. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*, 696522. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.696522

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01372

Katikaridis, P., Römling, U., & Mogk, A. (2021). Basic mechanism of the autonomous ClpG disaggregase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 296, 100460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100460

- Kawano, M., Oshima, T., Kasai, H., & Mori, H. (2002). Molecular characterization of long direct repeat (LDR) sequences expressing a stable mRNA encoding for a 35-amino-acid cellkilling peptide and a *cis*-encoded small antisense RNA in *Escherichia coli*. *Molecular Microbiology*, 45, 333–349.
- Kempf, B., & Bremer, E. (1998). Uptake and synthesis of compatible solutes as microbial stress responses to high-osmolality environments. *Archives of Microbiology*, 170, 319–330.
- Keren, I., Kaldalu, N., Spoering, A., Wang, Y., & Lewis, K. (2004). Persister cells and tolerance to antimicrobials. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 230(1), 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00856-5
- Kern, R., Malki, A., Abdallah, J., Tagourti, J., & Richarme, G. (2007). *Escherichia coli* HdeB is an acid stress chaperone. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 189(2), 603–610. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01522-06
- Kishore, D., Kundu, S., & Kayastha, A. M. (2012). Thermal, chemical and pH induced denaturation of a multimeric β-galactosidase reveals multiple unfolding pathways. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050380
- Kitagawa, M., Ara, T., Arifuzzaman, M., Ioka-Nakamichi, T., Inamoto, E., Toyonaga, H., & Mori, H. (2005). Complete set of ORF clones of *Escherichia coli* ASKA library (A complete set of *E. coli* K-12 ORF archive): unique resources for biological research. *DNA Research*, *12*(5), 291–299. https://doi.org/10.1093/dnares/dsi012
- Korch, S. B., Henderson, T. A., & Hill, T. M. (2003). Characterization of the *hipA7* allele of *Escherichia coli* and evidence that high persistence is governed by (p)ppGpp synthesis. *Molecular Microbiology*, *50*(4), 1199–1213. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03779.x

- Koseki, S., Nakamura, N., & Shiina, T. (2015). Comparison of desiccation tolerance among Listeria monocytogenes, Escherichia coli O157:H7, Salmonella enterica, and Cronobacter sakazakii in powdered infant formula. Journal of Food Protection, 78(1), 104–110. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-14-249
- Kowit, J. D., & Goldberg, A. L. (1977). Intermediate steps in the degradation of a specific abnormal protein in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 252(23), 8350–8357. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(19)75226-0
- Kragh, M. L., & Truelstrup Hansen, L. (2020). Initial transcriptomic response and adaption of *Listeria monocytogenes* to desiccation on food grade stainless steel. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10, 3132. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.03132
- Krulwich, T. A., Hicks, D. B., & Ito, M. (2009). Cation/proton antiporter complements of bacteria: why so large and diverse? *Molecular Microbiology*, 74(2), 257–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06842.x
- Krulwich, T. A., Ito, M., Hicks, D. B., Gilmour, R., & Guffanti, A. A. (1998). pH homeostasis and ATP synthesis: studies of two processes that necessitate inward proton translocation in extremely alkaliphilic *Bacillus* species. *Extremophiles*, 2(3), 217–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s007920050063
- Krulwich, T. A., Sachs, G., & Padan, E. (2011). Molecular aspects of bacterial pH sensing and homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(5), 330–343.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2549
- Kwan, B. W., Valenta, J. A., Benedik, M. J., & Wood, T. K. (2013). Arrested protein synthesis increases persister-like cell formation. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 57(3), 1468–1473. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02135-12

- Langklotz, S., Baumann, U., & Narberhaus, F. (2012). Structure and function of the bacterial AAA protease FtsH. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, *1823*(1), 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.08.015
- Lee, C., Franke, K. B., Kamal, S. M., Kim, H., Lünsdorf, H., Jäger, J., Nimtz, M., Trček, J., Jänsch, L., Bukau, B., Mogk, A., & Römling, U. (2018). Stand-alone ClpG disaggregase confers superior heat tolerance to bacteria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(2), E273–E282. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1712051115
- Lee, C., Wigren, E., Trček, J., Peters, V., Kim, J., Hasni, M. S., Nimtz, M., Lindqvist, Y., Park, C., & Curth, U. (2015a). A novel protein quality control mechanism contributes to heat shock resistance of worldwide-distributed *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clone C strains. *Environmental Microbiology*, *17*(11), 4511–4526. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12915
- Lee, C., Wigren, E., Trček, J., Peters, V., Kim, J., Hasni, M. S., Nimtz, M., Lindqvist, Y., Park, C., & Curth, U. (2015b). A novel protein quality control mechanism contributes to heat shock resistance of worldwide-distributed *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clone C strains. *Environmental Microbiology*, 17(11), 4511–4526. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12915
- Lee, C., Wigren, E., Trček, J., Peters, V., Kim, J., Hasni, M. S., Nimtz, M., Lindqvist, Y., Park, C., Curth, U., Lünsdorf, H., & Römling, U. (2015). A novel protein quality control mechanism contributes to heat shock resistance of worldwide-distributed *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clone C strains. *Environmental Microbiology*, *17*(11), 4511–4526. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12915
- Lee, H. S., Lee, S., Kim, J., Lee, H.-R., Shin, H.-C., Lee, M.-S., Kim, C.-H., Ku, B., Ryu, C.-M.,& Kim, S. J. (2018). Structural and physiological exploration of *Salmonella* Typhi YfdX

uncovers its dual function in bacterial antibiotic stress and virulence. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*, 3329. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.03329

- Lee, L. J., Barrett, J. A., & Poole, R. K. (2005). Genome-wide transcriptional response of chemostat-cultured *Escherichia coli* to zinc. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *187*(3), 1124–1134. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.3.1124-1134.2005
- Lehmacher, A., Bockemuhl, J., & Aleksic, S. (1995). Nationwide outbreak of human salmonellosis in Germany due to contaminated paprika and paprika-powdered potato chips.In *Epidem iol. Infect* (Vol. 115).
- Leszczynska, D., Matuszewska, E., Kuczynska-Wisnik, D., Furmanek-Blaszk, B., & Laskowska,
 E. (2013). The formation of persister cells in stationary-phase cultures of *Escherichia coli* is associated with the aggregation of endogenous proteins. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054737
- Li, H., Mercer, R., Behr, J., Heinzlmeir, S., McMullen, L. M., Vogel, R. F., & Gänzle, M. G.
 (2020). Heat and pressure resistance in *Escherichia coli* relates to protein folding and aggregation. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *11*, 111. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00111
- Lindner, A. B., Madden, R., Demarez, A., Stewart, E. J., & Taddei, F. (2008). Asymmetric segregation of protein aggregates is associated with cellular aging and rejuvenation. In *PNAS* (Vol. 105, Issue 8, pp. 3076–3081). www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/
- López, C., Checa, S. K., & Soncinia, F. C. (2018). CpxR/CpxA controls scsABCD transcription to counteract copper and oxidative stress in Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium. 200(16), 1–13.

- Lund, P., Tramonti, A., & de Biase, D. (2014). Coping with low pH: molecular strategies in neutralophilic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 38(6), 1091–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12076
- Ma, A., & Chui, L. (2017). Identification of heat resistant *Escherichia coli* by qPCR for the locus of heat resistance. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 133, 87–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIMET.2016.12.019
- MacRitchie, D. M., Ward, J. D., Nevesinjac, A. Z., & Raivio, T. L. (2008). Activation of the Cpx envelope stress response down-regulates expression of several locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded genes in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity*, 76(4), 1465–1475. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01265-07
- Mahmoud, S. A., & Chien, P. (2018). Regulated proteolysis in bacteria. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 87, 677–696. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem
- Maisonneuve, E., & Gerdes, K. (2014). Molecular mechanisms underlying bacterial persisters. *Cell*, *157*(3), 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.050
- Malik-Kale, P., Jolly, C. E., Lathrop, S., Winfree, S., Luterbach, C., & Steele-Mortimer, O. (2011). *Salmonella* at home in the host cell. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 2(JUNE). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00125
- Mandal, R. K., & Kwon, Y. M. (2017). Global screening of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium genes for desiccation survival. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8(SEP). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01723
- Masuda, N., & Church, G. M. (2002). *Escherichia coli* gene expression responsive to levels of the response regulator EvgA. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 184(22), 6225–6234. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.184.22.6225-6234.2002

- Maurer, L. M., Yohannes, E., Bondurant, S. S., Radmacher, M., & Slonczewski, J. L. (2005). pH regulates genes for flagellar motility, catabolism, and oxidative stress in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *187*(1), 304–319. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.1.304
- Mayer, C., Uslar, M., Suding, T., & Weidelt, T. (2010). pH-dependent expression of periplasmic proteins and amino acid catabolism in *Escherichia coli*. *VDE-Kongress 2010 E-Mobility: Technologien Infrastruktur M rkte*, *184*(15), 4246–4258.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.184.15.4246
- Meibom, K. L., Dubail, I., Dupuis, M., Barel, M., Lenco, J., Stulik, J., Golovliov, I., Sjöstedt, A., & Charbit, A. (2008). The heat-shock protein ClpB of *Francisella tularensis* is involved in stress tolerance and is required for multiplication in target organs of infected mice. *Molecular Microbiology*, *67*(6), 1384–1401. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06139.x
- Mendonca, A. F., Amoroso, T. L., & Knabel, S. J. (1994). Destruction of gram-negative foodborne pathogens by high pH involves disruption of the cytoplasmic membrane. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(11), 4009–4014. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.60.11.4009-4014.1994
- Meng, S. Y., & Bennett, G. N. (1992). Nucleotide sequence of the *Escherichia coli cad* operon: a system for neutralization of low extracellular pH. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *174*(8), 2659–2669. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.174.8.2659-2669.1992
- Mercer, R. G., Nguyen, O., Ou, Q., McMullen, L., & Gänzle, M. G. (2017). Functional analysis of genes encoded by the locus of heat resistance in *Escherichia coli*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 83(20), e1400-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01400-17

Mercer, R. G., Walker, B. D., Yang, X., McMullen, L. M., & Gänzle, M. G. (2017). The locus of heat resistance (LHR) mediates heat resistance in *Salmonella enterica, Escherichia coli* and *Enterobacter cloacae*. *Food Microbiology*, 64, 96–103.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2016.12.018

- Mercer, R. G., Zheng, J., Garcia-Hernandez, R., Ruan, L., Gänzle, M. G., & McMullen, L. M. (2015). Genetic determinants of heat resistance in *Escherichia coli*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(SEP), 932. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00932
- Miller, B. D., Rigdon, C. E., Ball, J., Rounds, J. M., Klos, R. F., Brennan, B. M., Arends, K. D., Kennelly, P., Hedberg, C., & Smith, K. E. (2012). Use of traceback methods to confirm the source of a multistate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreak due to in-shell hazelnuts. *Journal* of Food Protection, 75(2), 320–327. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-309
- Mogk, A., & Bukau, B. (2004). Molecular Chaperones: Structure of a Protein Disaggregase. In *Current Biology* (Vol. 14, Issue 2). Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2003.12.051
- Mogk, A., Bukau, B., & Kampinga, H. H. (2018). Cellular handling of protein aggregates by disaggregation machines. *Molecular Cell*, 69(2), 214–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.01.004
- Mogk, A., Huber, D., & Bukau, B. (2011). Integrating protein homeostasis strategies in prokaryotes. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 3(4), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004366
- Moyed, H. S., & Bertrand, K. P. (1983). *hipA*, a newly recognized gene of *Escherichia coli* K-12 that affects frequency of persistence after inhibition of murein synthesis. *JOURNAL OF BACTERIOLOGY*, *155*(2), 768–775. https://journals.asm.org/journal/jb

- Msadek, T., Ronique Dartois, V., Kunst, F., Herbaud, M.-L., Denizot, F. O., & Rapoport, G. (1998). ClpP of *Bacillus subtilis* is required for competence development, motility, degradative enzyme synthesis, growth at high temperature and sporulation. *Molecular Microbiology*, 27, 899–914.
- Nakamura, T., Tokuda, H., & Unemoto, T. (1984). K+/H+ antiporter functions as a regulator of cytoplasmic pH in a marine bacterium, *Vibrio alginolyticus*. *BBA - Biomembranes*, 776(2), 330–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(84)90222-0
- Nakayama, S. I., & Watanabe, H. (1995). Involvement of *cpxA*, a sensor of a two-component regulatory system, in the pH-dependent regulation of expression of *Shigella sonnei virF* gene. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *177*(17), 5062–5069. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.17.5062-5069.1995
- Nguyen, D., Joshi-Datar, A., Lepine, F., Bauerle, E., Olakanmi, O., Beer, K., McKay, G., Siehnel, R., Schafhauser, J., Wang, Y., Britigan, B. E., & Singh, P. K. (2011). Active starvation responses mediate antibiotic tolerance in biofilms and nutrient-limited bacteria. *Science*, 334(6058), 982–986. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1211037
- Nishino, K., & Yamaguchi, A. (2001). Overexpression of the response regulator *evgA* of the twocomponent signal transduction system modulates multidrug resistance conferred by multidrug resistance transporters. *Society*, *183*(4), 1455–1458. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.183.4.1455
- O'Brien, E. P., Christodoulou, J., Vendruscolo, M., & Dobson, C. M. (2012). Trigger factor slows co-translational folding through kinetic trapping while sterically protecting the nascent chain from aberrant cytosolic interactions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 134(26), 10920–10932. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja302305u

- Ogura, T., & Hiraga, S. (1983). Mini-F plasmid genes that couple host cell division to plasmid proliferation. *Genetics*, *80*, 4784–4788.
- Ophir, T., & Gutnick, D. L. (1994). A role for exopolysaccharides in the protection of microorganisms from desiccation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(2), 740–745.
- Padan, E., Bibi, E., Ito, M., & Krulwich, T. A. (2005). Alkaline pH homeostasis in bacteria: new insights. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Biomembranes*, 1717(2), 67–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2005.09.010
- Padan, E., & Schuldiner, S. (1994). Molecular physiology of the Na+/H+ antiporter in Escherichia coli. Journal of Experimental Biology, 196, 443–456.
- Page, R., & Peti, W. (2016). Toxin-antitoxin systems in bacterial growth arrest and persistence. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 12(4), 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2044
- Paranjape, S. S., & Shashidhar, R. (2019). Comparison of starvation-induced persister cells with antibiotic-induced persister cells. *Current Microbiology*, 76(12), 1495–1502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-019-01777-7
- Pedersen, K., Christensen, S. K. ;, & Gerdes, K. (2002). Rapid induction and reversal of a bacteriostatic condition by controlled expression of toxins and antitoxins. *Molecular Microbiology*, 45, 501–510.
- Pratt, Z., Shiroda, M., Stasic, A. J., Lensmire, J., & Kaspar, C. W. (2016). Osmotic and desiccation tolerance in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* requires *rpoS*. In F. J. de Bruijn (Ed.), *Stress and Environmental Regulation of Gene Expression and Adaptation in Bacteria, I&II* (pp. 716–724). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. .

- Price, N. L., & Raivio, T. L. (2009). Characterization of the Cpx regulon in *Escherichia coli* strain MC4100. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *191*(6), 1798–1815. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00798-08
- Pu, Y., Li, Y., Jin, X., Tian, T., Ma, Q., Zhao, Z., Lin, S. yuan, Chen, Z., Li, B., Yao, G., Leake, M. C., Lo, C. J., & Bai, F. (2019). ATP-dependent dynamic protein aggregation regulates bacterial dormancy depth critical for antibiotic tolerance. *Molecular Cell*, 73(1), 143-156.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.10.022
- Quan, J., & Tian, J. (2009). Circular polymerase extension cloning of complex gene libraries and pathways. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(7), e6441. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006441
- Raivio, T. L., Leblanc, S. K. D., & Price, N. L. (2013). The *Escherichia coli* Cpx envelope stress response regulates genes of diverse function that impact antibiotic resistance and membrane integrity. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *195*(12), 2755–2767. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00105-13
- Raivio, T. L., & Silhavy, T. J. (1999). The σ(E) and Cpx regulatory pathways: overlapping but distinct envelope stress responses. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 2(2), 159–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5274(99)80028-9
- Ramisetty, B. C. M., Ghosh, D., Chowdhury, M. R., & Santhosh, R. S. (2016). What is the link between stringent response, endoribonuclease encoding type II toxin-antitoxin systems and persistence? *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(NOV). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01882
- Reisch, C. R., & Prather, K. L. J. (2015). The no-SCAR (Scarless Cas9 Assisted
 Recombineering) system for genome editing in *Escherichia coli*. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 15096. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15096

- Richard, H., & Foster, J. W. (2004). *Escherichia coli* glutamate- and arginine-dependent acid resistance systems increase internal pH and reverse transmembrane potential. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *186*(18), 6032–6041. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.18.6032-6041.2004
- Richter, K., Haslbeck, M., & Buchner, J. (2010). The heat shock response: Life on the verge of death. *Molecular Cell*, 40(2), 253–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.10.006
- Roosild, T. P., Castronovo, S., Healy, J., Miller, S., Pliotas, C., Rasmussen, T., Bartlett, W., Conway, S. J., & Booth, I. R. (2010). Mechanism of ligand-gated potassium efflux in bacterial pathogens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 107(46), 19784–19789. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1012716107
- Rosenzweig, R., Moradi, S., Zarrine-Afsar, A., Glover, J. R., & Kay, L. E. (2013). Unraveling the mechanism of protein disaggregation through a ClpB-DnaK interaction. *Science*, *339*(6123), 1080–1083. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1233009
- Ryu, J.-H., Deng, Y., & Beuchat, L. R. (1999). Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 in dried beef powder as affected by water activity, sodium chloride content and temperature. *Food Microbiology*, *16*, 309–316. http://www.idealibrary.com
- Saha, P., Manna, C., Chakrabarti, J., & Ghosh, M. (2016). Reversible thermal unfolding of a yfdX protein with chaperone-like activity. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 29541.
- Saito, H., & Kobayashi, H. (2003). Bacterial responses to alkaline stress. *Science Progress*, *86*(Pt 4), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.3184/003685003783238635
- Sauer, R. T., & Baker, T. A. (2011). AAA+ proteases: ATP-fueled machines of protein destruction. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 80, 587–612. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevbiochem-060408-172623

- Schmid, M., Iversen, C., Gontia, I., Stephan, R., Hofmann, A., Hartmann, A., Jha, B., Eberl, L.,
 Riedel, K., & Lehner, A. (2009). Evidence for a plant-associated natural habitat for *Cronobacter* spp. *Research in Microbiology*, *160*(8), 608–614.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.08.013
- Schmitt, N., Yu, G., Greve, R., & McIntyre, L. (2018). Outbreak of Salmonella Weltevreden linked to fermented cashew nut cheese in Victoria, BC. Environmental Health Review, 61(3), 74–81. https://doi.org/10.5864/d2018-017
- Schnider-Keel, U., Lejbølle, K. B., Baehler, E., Haas, D., & Keel, C. (2001). The sigma factor AlgU (AlgT) controls exopolysaccharide production and tolerance towards desiccation and osmotic stress in the biocontrol agent *Pseudomonas fluorescens* CHA0. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(12), 5683–5693.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.12.5683-5693.2001

- Schramm, F. D., Schroeder, K., & Jonas, K. (2014). Protein Aggregation in Bacteria. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 44(1), 54–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118845363
- Seeras, A. (2017). *Survival and persistence of dried* Salmonella enterica *in low water activity conditions*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.7939/R3TM72C98
- Sharma, M., & Beuchat, L. R. (2004). Sensitivity of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to commercially available alkaline cleaners and subsequent resistance to heat and sanitizers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(3), 1795–1803. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.3.1795-1803.2004
- Slonczewski, J. L., Fujisawa, M., Dopson, M., & Krulwich, T. A. (2009). Cytoplasmic pH measurement and homeostasis in bacteria and archaea. In *Advances in Microbial Physiology* (Vol. 55, Issue 09). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2911(09)05501-5

- Smirnova, G. V., Muzyka, N. G., Glukhovchenko, M. N., & Oktyabrsky, O. N. (2000). Effects of menadione and hydrogen peroxide on glutathione status in growing *Escherichia coli*. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 28(7), 1009–1016. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(99)00256-7
- Stecher, G., Tamura, K., & Kumar, S. (2020). Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis (MEGA) for macOS. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 37, 1237–1239. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msz312/5697095
- Steinchen, W., Zegarra, V., & Bange, G. (2020). (p)ppGpp: Magic modulators of bacterial physiology and metabolism. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.02072
- Tam, J. E., & Kline, B. C. (1989). The F plasmid ccd autorepressor is a complex of CcdA and CcdB proteins. *Molecular and General Genetics*, *219*, 26–32. https://doi.org/10.66511.292
- Thomas, J. G., & Baneyx, F. O. (1998). Roles of the *Escherichia coli* small heat shock proteins IbpA and IbpB in thermal stress management: Comparison with ClpA, ClpB, and HtpG *in vivo. Journal of Bacteriology*, 180(19), 5165–5172. https://journals.asm.org/journal/jb
- Thomason, L. C., Costantino, N., & Court, D. L. (2007). *E. coli* genome manipulation by P1 transduction. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*, *July*, 1.17.1-1.17.8. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142727.mb0117s79
- Thomsen, L. E., Olsen, J. E., Foster, J. W., & Ingmer, H. (2002). ClpP is involved in the stress response and degradation of misfolded proteins in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology*, 148, 2727–2733.
- Tomoyasu, T., Mogk, A., Langen, H., Goloubinoff, P., & Bukau, B. (2001). Genetic dissection of the roles of chaperones and proteases in protein folding and degradation in the *Escherichia coli* cytosol. *Molecular Microbiology*, *40*(2), 397–413.
- Tripathi, P., Singh, L. K., Kumari, S., Hakiem, O. R., & Batra, J. K. (2020). ClpB is an essential stress regulator of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and endows survival advantage to dormant bacilli. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, *310*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2020.151402
- Truelstrup Hansen, L., & Vogel, B. F. (2011). Desiccation of adhering and biofilm *Listeria monocytogenes* on stainless steel: Survival and transfer to salmon products. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *146*(1), 88–93.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2011.01.032
- Tyagi, N. K., Fenton, W. A., & Horwich, A. L. (2009). GroEL/GroES cycling: ATP binds to an open ring before substrate protein favoring protein binding and production of the native state. *PNAS*, 106, 20264–20269. www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/
- Ungelenk, S., Moayed, F., Ho, C. T., Grousl, T., Scharf, A., Mashaghi, A., Tans, S., Mayer, M.
 P., Mogk, A., & Bukau, B. (2016). Small heat shock proteins sequester misfolding proteins in near-native conformation for cellular protection and efficient refolding. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13673
- Veening, J. W., Smits, W. K., & Kuipers, O. P. (2008). Bistability, epigenetics, and bet-hedging in bacteria. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 62, 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.62.081307.163002

- Venkobachar, C., Iyengar, L., & Prabhakara Rao, A. V. S. (1977). Mechanism of disinfection: effect of chlorine on cell membrane functions. *Water Research*, 11(8), 727–729. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(77)90114-2
- Wang, X., Cole, C. G., Dupai, C. D., & Davies, B. W. (2020). Protein aggregation is associated with Acinetobacter baumannii desiccation tolerance. Microorganisms, 8(3), 343. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8030343
- Wang, X., Lord, D. M., Cheng, H. Y., Osbourne, D. O., Hong, S. H., Sanchez-Torres, V.,
 Quiroga, C., Zheng, K., Herrmann, T., Peti, W., Benedik, M. J., Page, R., & Wood, T. K.
 (2012). A new type V toxin-antitoxin system where mRNA for toxin GhoT is cleaved by antitoxin GhoS. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 8(10), 855–861.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1062
- Wang, X., Yao, J., Sun, Y. C., & Wood, T. K. (2021). Type VII toxin/antitoxin classification system for antitoxins that enzymatically neutralize toxins. *Trends in Microbiology*, 29(5), 388–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2020.12.001
- Wang, Z., Fang, Y., Zhi, S., Simpson, D. J., Gill, A., McMullen, L. M., Neumann, N. F., & Gänzle, M. G. (2020a). The locus of heat resistance confers resistance to chlorine and other oxidizing chemicals in *Escherichia coli*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 86(4), e02123-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02123-19
- Wang, Z., Fang, Y., Zhi, S., Simpson, D. J., Gill, A., McMullen, L. M., Neumann, N. F., &
 Gänzle, M. G. (2020b). The locus of heat resistance confers resistance to chlorine and other oxidizing chemicals in Escherichia coli. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 86(4), e02123-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02123-19

- Wang, Z., Hu, H., Zhu, T., Zheng, J., Gänzle, M. G., & Simpson, D. J. (2021). Ecology and function of the transmissible Locus of Stress Tolerance in *Escherichia coli* and plantassociated *Enterobacteriaceae*. *MSystems*, e0037821. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00378-21
- Wang, Z., Li, P., Luo, L., Simpson, D. J., & Gänzle, M. G. (2018). Daqu fermentation selects for heat-resistant Enterobacteriaceae and bacilli. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 84, e01483-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01483-18
- Weber, R. F., & Silverman, P. M. (1988). The Cpx proteins of *Escherichia coli* K12: structure of the CpxA polypeptide as an inner membrane component. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 203(2), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(88)90013-7
- Webster, J. M., Darling, A. L., Uversky, V. N., & Blair, L. J. (2019a). Small heat shock proteins, big impact on protein aggregation in neurodegenerative disease. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01047
- Webster, J. M., Darling, A. L., Uversky, V. N., & Blair, L. J. (2019b). Small heat shock proteins, big impact on protein aggregation in neurodegenerative disease. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01047
- Werber, D., Dreesman, J., Feil, F., van Treeck, U., Fell, G., Ethelberg, S., Hauri, A. M.,
 Roggentin, P., Prager, R., Fisher, I. S. T., Behnke, S. C., Bartelt, E., Weise, E., Ellis, A.,
 Siitonen, A., Andersson, Y., Tschäpe, H., Kramer, M. H., & Ammon, A. (2005).
 International outbreak of *Salmonella* Oranienburg due to German chocolate. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-5-7

- Wholey, W. Y., & Jakob, U. (2012). Hsp33 confers bleach resistance by protecting elongation factor Tu against oxidative degradation in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Molecular Microbiology*, *83*(5), 981–991. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2012.07982.x
- Wilson, D. N., Hauryliuk, V., Atkinson, G. C., & O'Neill, A. J. (2020). Target protection as a key antibiotic resistance mechanism. In *Nature Reviews Microbiology* (Vol. 18, Issue 11, pp. 637–648). Nature Research. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-0386-z
- Wong, P., & Houry, W. A. (2004). Chaperone networks in bacteria: Analysis of protein homeostasis in minimal cells. *Journal of Structural Biology*, 146(1–2), 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsb.2003.11.006
- Wood, T. K., Knabel, S. J., & Kwan, B. W. (2013). Bacterial persister cell formation and dormancy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(23), 7116–7121. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02636-13
- Wu, Y., Vulić, M., Keren, I., & Lewis, K. (2012). Role of oxidative stress in persister tolerance.
 Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 56(9), 4922–4926.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00921-12
- Yamaguchi, Y., & Inouye, M. (2011). Regulation of growth and death in *Escherichia coli* by toxin-antitoxin systems. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(11), 779–790. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2651
- Yamamoto, K., & Ishihama, A. (2006). Characterization of copper-inducible promoters regulated by CpxA/CpxR in *Escherichia coli*. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 70(7), 1688–1695. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.60024

- Yang, S. C., Lin, C. H., Aljuffali, I. A., & Fang, J. Y. (2017). Current pathogenic *Escherichia coli* foodborne outbreak cases and therapy development. *Archives of Microbiology*, *199*(6), 811–825. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-017-1393-y
- Yang, Y., Kadim, M. I., Khoo, W. J., Zheng, Q., Setyawati, M. I., Shin, Y. J., Lee, S. C., & Yuk, H. G. (2014). Membrane lipid composition and stress/virulence related gene expression of *Salmonella* Enteritidis cells adapted to lactic acid and trisodium phosphate and their resistance to lethal heat and acid stress. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *191*, 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.08.034
- Yu, C., Katherine, D., Kumar, S. S., V, N. S., Guerrino, M., Ankita, N., R, G. G., Ben, T., Angelika, L., Roger, S., Shabarinath, S., & Séamus, F. (2021). Alterations in the transcriptional landscape allows differential desiccation tolerance in different strains of *Cronobacter sakazakii. Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 0(ja), AEM.00830-21. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00830-21
- Yu, J., Liu, Y., Yin, H., & Chang, Z. (2019). Regrowth-delay body as a bacterial subcellular structure marking multidrug-tolerant persisters. *Cell Discovery*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41421-019-0080-3
- Zhi, S., Banting, G., Li, Q., Edge, T. A., Topp, E., Sokurenko, M., Scott, C., Braithwaite, S., Ruecker, N. J., Yasui, Y., McAllister, T., Chui, L., & Neumann, N. F. (2016). Evidence of naturalized stress-tolerant strains of *Escherichia coli* in municipal wastewater treatment plants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(18), 5505–5518. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00143-16
- Zhu, T., Wang, Z., McMullen, L. M., Raivio, T., Simpson, D. J., & Gänzle, M. G. (2021).Contribution of the Locus of Heat Resistance to growth and survival of *Escherichia coli* at

alkaline pH and at alkaline pH in the presence of chlorine. *Microorganisms*, 9(4), 701. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9040701

- Zwietering, M. H., Jongenburger, I., Rombouts, F. M., & Van't Riet, K. (1990a). Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(6), 1875–1881. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.56.6.1875-1881.1990
- Zwietering, M. H., Jongenburger, I., Rombouts, F. M., & Van't Riet, K. (1990b). Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(6), 1875–1881. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.56.6.1875-1881.1990